
Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date Wednesday 26 September 2018
Time 9.30 am
Venue Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend. Members 
of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman's agreement.

1. Apologies for absence  
2. Substitute Members  
3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 July 2018 and the Special Meeting on 24 

July 2018  (Pages 3 - 16)
4. Declarations of Interest, if any  
5. Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties  
6. Media Relations  
7. Participation in Learning  (Pages 17 - 24)

a) Report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s 
Services

b) Presentation by Strategic Manager Progression and Learning

8. Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report - Report of the 
Independent Chair of County Durham Local Safeguarding Board  (Pages 25 
- 74)

9. Corporate Parenting Annual Report - Report of the Chair of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel  (Pages 75 - 92)

10. Performance Management Q1 2018/2019 - Report of Corporate 
Management Team  (Pages 93 - 118)

11. Budget Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/2018 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 119 - 128)



12. Budget Revenue and Capital Forecast Q1 2018/2019 - Report of Corporate 
Director of Resources  (Pages 129 - 142)

13. Verbal update on Review Activity  
14. Committee's Response to Consultations - Report of the Director of 

Transformation and Partnerships  (Pages 143 - 150)
15. Children and Families Partnership Minutes  (Pages 151 - 154)
16. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, is of 

sufficient urgency to warrant consideration  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

  County Hall
  Durham
  18 September 2018

To: The Members of the Children and Young People's Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Councillor C Potts (Chairman)
Councillor H Smith (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors B Bainbridge, D Bell, J Blakey, P Brookes, J Charlton, 
J Considine, R Crute, S Durham, N Grayson, C Hampson, K Hopper, 
I Jewell, L Kennedy, L Mavin, A Patterson, A Reed, M Simmons, A Willis and 
M Wilson

Faith Communities Representatives: 
Mrs C Craig and Mrs C Johnston

Parent Governor Representatives: 
Mr R Patel and Mrs J Norman

Co-opted Members: 
Ms R Evans and Mrs P Parkins

Contact: Kirsty Gray Tel: 03000 269705



DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

At a Meeting of Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee held 
in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Monday 2 July 2018 at 9.30 am

Present:

Councillor C Potts (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors H Smith, D Bell, J Blakey, J Charlton, J Considine, R Crute, S Durham, 
I Jewell, A Patterson, A Reed, M Simmons, A Willis and M Wilson

Parent Governor Representative:
Mrs J Norman

Co-opted Members:
Mrs P Parkins

Also Present:
Councillor M McKeon

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B Bainbridge, P Brookes, N 
Grayson, C Hampson, K Hopper, L Kennedy, and L Mavin.  Mrs C Craig, C 
Johnson and Ms R Evans.

2 Substitute Members 

There were no substitute Members in attendance.

3 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 9 April 2018 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the Chairman.

4 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

5 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from co-opted members or interested parties.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



6 Media Relations 

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer presented Members with recent press articles relating 
to the remit of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee;

 Sharp rise in under 11s referred for mental health help
 Scores of North East Children severely obese by the end of primary school
 Government pledges to improve young carer identification and support

Resolved:

That the presentation be noted

7 Progress Update on Take up of Free School Meals and Holiday Provision 
Review 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which presented Members with an update on the progress made 
against the recommendations from the Take up of Free School Meals and Holiday 
Provision review (for copy see file of minutes).

The Lead Officer for Health and Wellbeing presented the report and gave Members 
additional information relating to some of the recommendations outlined in the report (for 
copy see file of minutes).  She confirmed that one of the recommendations with regards to 
increasing FSM take up, could not be implemented due to the data protection regulations.  
The parent NI number could not be included on school admission application forms, 
instead schools used an eligibility checking system that required them to obtain details 
from parents and hold them securely for FSM checking purposes only.

Some schools had not previously used the eligibility checking system and had received 
increased pupil premium funding.  One particular school had received an additional £25k.   
Children on FSM as of 31 March 2018 were protected until end of Universal Credit roll out 
2023.  A Local Authority Universal Credit Working Group had been set up to look at the 
impact of welfare changes.

All but one of Durham’s secondary schools used the biometric system and held termly 
meetings with catering support teams where staff had been advised that the screen should 
not be seen by other pupils.  Schools were being supported to change the location of tills 
and/or card readers should this be an issue and catering assessments would include a 
‘spot check’ on card readers from Autumn 2018.

Mrs Norman added that children in Key Stage 1 were all eligible for FSM and parents were 
therefore unlikely to submit details.  Schools needed to be proactive in reminding parents 
to complete the checks to access pupil premium funding.

In response to the Senior Project Worker, Investing in Children, the Lead Officer for Health 
and Wellbeing confirmed that children had been consulted throughout the Review via 

Page 4



regular meetings between School Nutrition and Action Groups and the School Meals 
Team.

Councillor Jewell queried whether there were hotspots in the County where parents were 
unlikely to take up FSM for cultural reasons or pride.  The Lead Officer for Health and 
Wellbeing confirmed that there were children eligible for FSM whose parents preferred to 
supply them with packed lunch, but ot was difficult to identify reasons.  The School Meals 
Team also held regular meetings with the contract provider and high drop out was 
considered.

The Strategic Manager, Think Family Services referred to the project ‘a day out not a hand 
out’ which had been evaluated by Northumbria University.  They had found that children 
who attended holiday activities which provided food, had eaten more fruit and vegetables 
and drank more water, but also been keen to learn and participate.  The holiday clubs had 
assisted to alleviate parental stress and provide children with a safe environment to play 
and learn new skills.  The programme was to be held in Durham over the next few years.  
Events were hosted by Culture and Leisure and a range of community events and 
activities funded by AAPs were listed and publicised.

North Lanarkshire Council had developed the 365 programme which was aimed at primary 
pupils with FSM entitlement.  The Cabinet Portfolio Holders for Children and Young 
People’s Services and Social Inclusion and HR were visiting North Lanarkshire Council to 
see how the programme was set up.

The Head of Education spoke in relation to the effects of austerity on families.  He 
confirmed the fact that hunger affected children’s schoolwork and contributed to attainment 
issues.  He referred to the link between obesity and bad eating habits.  Both issues were 
difficult to assess, but should be a consideration during Ofsted inspections as it was was a 
difficult challenge without knowing what was happening in each individual school.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

8 Draft Children's Strategy 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which presented Members with the draft vision, aims and objectives of 
the proposed new Children and Young People’s Strategy, and received a presentation 
from the Head of Strategy (for copies see file of minutes).

The presentation included the rationale and proposed vision statement, including 4 key 
aims and how they would be delivered.  

Page 5



In response to a question from Councillor Jewell the Head of Strategy confirmed that one 
of the key aims was to ensure the strategy was specific and measurable.  Detailed plans 
had been drafted, however Members were able to advise if there were any areas of vital 
importance to be included.

Councillor Blakey suggested two areas of importance;

 The number of SEN children who stayed in Education or went on to Employment 
and;

 CAHMS referral waiting times

The Head of Strategy commented that in terms of disability and employment, performance 
in the County was poor and consideration on how to improve those figures was essential.

Councillor McKeown referred to a number of young carers, caring for adults with mental 
health problems.  Many were unaware they were caring for people.  She also commented 
on a rise in private sector companies employing young apprentices as cheap labour with 
no intention of employing them at the end of their apprenticeship.  In response the Head of 
Strategy confirmed that work had been undertaken by Economy and Enterprise Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee with regards to the DurhamWorks partnership.

Councillor Hall highlighted the ability for the Committee to address issues for the next 
generation.  One area for concern was the transition from primary to secondary school.  
There was also a significant skills gap between 14-16 year olds.  Other areas to consider 
were home schooling and alternative provision, and unemployment in young people.  The 
Head of Strategy commented that Attainment 8 score was a measure for average 
achievement which was being used as an alternative to academic achievement.

The Strategic Manager Support & Development added that work had been undertaken in 
Seaham School and one pupil had observed the difference in school management.  In 
primary school a teacher would speak to pupils about behaviour, however in secondary 
school immediate sanctions were issued.

Councillor Crute confirmed that issues raised with regards to youth unemployment were 
being monitored by Economy and Enterprise Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  He 
referred to the impact of austerity which had undoubtedly created more deprivation, and 
the reductions in Local Authority funding and the National Funding Formula which had 
both impacted on schools.  Despite this, he remained positive that this would improve.

The Head of Education confirmed that children were all equally bright.  The determination 
of teachers was key to success and Durham would aspire to lead in Education in the North 
and nationally.

The Corporate Scrutiny & Performance Manager referred to comments submitted by Mrs 
Evans who had queried the input of children and young people into the County Durham 
Plan and would like to see more explicit links with the Children’s Strategy.

In response to a comment from Councillor Charlton, the Head of Strategy confirmed that 
children with mental health issues were considered under one of the key aims, emotional 
wellbeing, however specific reference would be made to mental health in the final draft.

Page 6



Councillor McKeown commented that the North East region was amongst the lowest in 
terms of achievement and suggested Local Authority partnerships to try and improve.

In response to a comment from Councillor Patterson the Head of Strategy confirmed that 
children in need would be included within the 4 key aim and confirmed that Councillor 
Patterson suggested children and young people contributed their views on the Strategy.

Resolved:

That the report and presentation be noted.

9 Child Poverty 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and Young 
People’s Services which updated Members on the progress of the
Child Poverty Working Group (CPWG) since the last report in September 2017 (for copy 
see file of minutes).

With regards to Child Poverty, the Chairman commented on an increase in demand for the 
School Benevolent Fund.

Councillor Crute referred to the replacement of the Child Poverty Act with the Welfare 
Reform Act in 2016 and the removal of the reference to income and child poverty.  
Although figures for employment had improved, the quality of employment had reduced 
and it could not be assumed that working households were not struggling.

Councillor Charlton referred to ‘Smarter Budgeting’ training and queried the number of 
staff yet to receive training.  The Strategic Manager, Think Family Services confirmed that 
the training was being embedded into the training programme and would continue to be 
delivered to a wide range of staff such as Health Visitors, School Nurses, Housing 
Providers.  In answer to a further question from Councillor Charlton, she confirmed that 
there was a need to target staff working in areas of deprivation.

Councillor Blakey referred to the severity of child poverty and the worry that there were 
families who were not engaging with any services, and praised volunteers for picking up 
the work.

Councillor Considine queried the level of involvement School Governers had and the 
Strategic Manager, Think Family Services confirmed that they were targeted and 
encouraged to take up the offer of training and to use the ‘top tips’ included in the leaflet.

The Corporate Scrutiny & Performance Manager again referred to comments submitted by 
Co-optee Mrs Evans who highlighted that there was a national debate with regards to 
‘period poverty’ and postpubescent missing school due to lack of sanitary products and 
this had not been highlighted in the leaflet.

Councillor Hall commented on an increase in child poverty due to reduced government 
funding and it was important that this was highlighted to MP’s.

Page 7



The Senior Project Worker, Investing in Children referred to young care leavers living in 
poverty and a recent campaign to highlight the struggles of living on £59 per week.  She 
emphasised the Councils responsibility for young people until the age of 25 and the 
Strategic Manager, Think Family Services, confirmed that the Voluntary and Community 
Sector Alliance worked closely with Children and Young People’s Services to ensure 
access to a range of services.

Councillor Crute suggested that Members needed to consider how to monitor performance 
indicators and whether to upgrade any to key performance indicators.

Councillor McKeown referred to the Early Years Foundation Stage standards for speech 
and language and the effect on teaching to bring children up to the required standards.  
The Strategic Manager, Think Families Service confirmed that this was a key priority for 
the One Point Service and there was additional work being done to get children school 
ready, such as reading in libraries.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

10 Performance Management Quarter 4 2017/2018 

The Committee considered a report of the Corporate Management Team which presented 
progress against the council’s corporate performance framework by Altogether priority 
theme for the fourth quarter of the 2017/18 financial year (for copy see file of minutes).

The Corporate Equality and Strategy Manager responded to a question from Councillor 
Durham regarding the failure to meet the target for the number of social work case file 
audits.  He confirmed that there were various pressure points relating to types and levels 
of intervention and the service would look at alternative ways to represent the figures 
following the implementation of Liquid Logic.  There was however a period of transition to 
be expected but the Committee would see improvements.

Councillor Blakey referred to the reduction in teenage pregnancy and asked for Members 
to be alerted should there be any recent increase.

Councillor Smith referred to recent press which criticised the campaign for breastfeeding.  
It had been alleged that Mothers were left feeling guilty for their choices, or feeling too 
pressurised by health visitors and midwives.  Councillor Considine confirmed that from 
experience, she had been provided with more support in Durham than in London and 
complimented the health service for a positive experience.  Mrs Norman added that the 
Nursing & Midwifery Council were relaxing their stance on breastfeeding.  Mrs Parkins 
queried whether there was a breastfeeding support group specifically aimed at teenage 
parents.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

11 Refresh of the Work Programme 

Page 8



The Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and
Partnerships an updated work programme for the Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee for 2018-19 (for copy see file of minutes).

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer confirmed that a joint review with Safer and Stronger 
Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee would be taking place following the 
establishment of a review group.  She asked for Members to register their interest.

The Overview and Scrutiny Officer confirmed that a meeting would be held at Evergreen 
Primary School, one of the County’s special schools.  A tour would be provided.

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

12 Summary of Minutes from Children and Families Partnership 

The Committee noted the summary of minutes from Children and Families Partnership 
meeting on 6 March 2018.

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
SAFER AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

At a Special Joint Meeting of the Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee and the Safer and Stronger Communities Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held in Committee Room 2 - County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 24 July 
2018 at 9.30 am

Present:
Councillor C Potts (Chairman)

Members of the Committee:
Councillors B Avery, A Bainbridge, B Bainbridge, D Bell, J Considine, R Crute, D Hall,  
C Hampson, S Iveson, I Jewell, L Mavin, A Willis, M Wilson, J Nicholson, H Smith, 
J Stephenson and J Turnbull

Parent Governor Representative:
Mrs J Norman

Co-opted Members:
Mr D Balls, Ms R Evans, Mr T Cooke and Chief Superintendent A Green.

Also Present:
Councillors L Maddison, M McKeon and L Hovvels

1 Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors J Blakey, D Boyes, P Brookes, J 
Charlton, N Grayson, K Hopper, L Kennedy, H Liddle, K Hopper, L Kennedy, E Mavin, A 
Patterson, A Reed, M Simmons and K Thompson and S Errington (Durham and Darlington 
Fire and Rescue Service), Mrs C Craig (Faith Rep) and Mrs P Parkins.

2 Substitute Members 

Councillor L Maddison substituted for N Grayson.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest.

4 Any items from Co-opted Members or Interested Parties 

There were no items from co-opted members or interested parties.

Page 11



5 ERASE 

The Joint Committee considered a report of the Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships which provided information on partnership work to tackling Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) through the ERASE brand (for copy see file of minutes).

Members received a presentation from Lisa Wood, Operations Manager and Detective 
Sergeant Ian Haddick which provided an update on the ERASE Team (for copy see file of 
minutes).

The Operations Manager confirmed that everyone who worked with young people were 
responsible for identifying the risk or potential risk of CSE.  A matrix was completed which 
scored potential risks and helped to identify a child at risk and a level of risk.  In 2017/18 
there were 135 completed matrices, which had identified 16 children of high risk and 10 of 
medium risk.  The rest were categorised as low risk and included normal types of 
experimental behaviour.  For example, sexting was a very different behaviour between two 
young people, in comparison to an adult conversing with a child.

The Detective Sergeant confirmed that the level of risk was rapidly increased when a 
young person went from conversing online to meeting someone in person and the Team 
had to be reactive.

The Operations Manager confirmed that historically it females were exploited but there had 
been an increase in the number of young males and with regards to age ranges, she 
confirmed the number in 2017/18; 

 10 x 8-13 years 
 18 x 14-16 years
 4 x 17-18 years

The younger age bracket usually included children who had unsupervised access to social 
media.  This was usually as a result of pressure on parents to allow them access.  Work 
was ongoing with parents to highlight the danger of allowing access to social media as it 
was an avenue which adults used in order to access children.

There was a strong link between children who went missing and CSE.  In 2017/18 there 
had been 769 missing children and 269 of those lived in Durham.  69 had been placed in 
the care system by other Local Authorities.  Of the 140,000 young people that went 
missing last year, 70% of them were at risk of CSE.

The Detective Sergeant confirmed that intelligence gathering was crucial following any 
missing episode and a missing report was scrutinised regardless of whether CSE was 
suspected.  Several conferences had been arranged in conjunction with the Beck 
Foundation.  Secondary schools were targeted and child representatives from each school 
would attend and then return to school and share the information with peers.

The Operations Manager confirmed that ERASE had been in operation for 2 years and 
had recently employed one additional Detective Sergeant and another Therapeutic 
Support Worker.  There was a high risk of CSE for children in the Edge of Care Service 
and therefore collaboration took place twice a week.

Page 12



The Detective Sergeant referred to a documentary film ‘Kayleighs Love Story’ which had 
been released by Lancashire Police as an online grooming prevention resource.  All 
schools were targeted and if 16-18 year olds were at risk, colleges would also be targeted.

The Operations Manager referred to care homes and the purpose of to achieve an 
approachable and trustworthy service for young people to access professional advice.

In response to a question from Ms Evans, the Operations Manager advised that children 
were targeted from primary school age. They would first be taught about ‘Stranger Danger’ 
at age 4 years and would tthen go on to be given talks at various ages.  80% of young 
people attended school so it was a key essential in raising awareness.  It was important to 
note that between the ages of 14-16 years it was normal for children to start experimenting 
with sex, therefore a lot of the identifying risk factors were also normal behaviour.

In response to a question from Councillor Jewell, the Detective Sergeant confirmed that 
locations were often identified as hotspots and there was collaborative working across 
boundaries with other Forces.

In terms of the challenges ahead the Operations Manager confirmed that there were two 
female Theraputic Support Workers and there was consideration as to whether they 
needed to employ a male worker.

The Detective Sergeant confirmed that the Police Cyber Unit were aware of 20-30 mobile 
phone applications and referred to Operation Makesafe which was an initiative focused on 
making businesses such as hotels, licensed premises, transport services and takeaways, 
aware of the early signs of CSE.  There were 1600 taxi drivers in Durham and CSE had 
been embedded into the Licensing Conditions. The Detective Sergeant confirmed that 
Operation Makesafe came with its own challenges such as high staff turnover in the 
business sector.

The Operations Manager confirmed that a priority was to ensure all child workers were 
aware of the LSCB referral form as this was vital to improve intelligence gathering.  Ms 
Evans queried how voluntary sector workers were made aware of the referral form and 
especially those in rural areas.  The Operations Manager confirmed that the Voluntary and 
Community Sector (VCS) alliance workers were represented at every level and various 
resources were available to community groups.

With regards to therapeutic support, the Operations Manager confirmed that the first stage 
was to remove the perpetrator and then a various stages of mending and confidence 
building would follow.  The final stage was to remove the future risk of exploitation.  
Activities were used for confidence building such as ‘bounce’ academy, horse riding and 
animal care.

In response to a comment from Councillor Turnbull regarding the gender of Therapeutic 
Workers, he suggested that it could not be assumed that male victims of CSE wanted to 
speak to male workers, but agreed that it would be advantageous for the service to have a 
choice.

Mr Cooke referred to the recent concept of social media and the reliance on tablets and 
smart phones to keep children entertained.  

Page 13



The Detective Sergeant confirmed that social media for children was high risk and parents 
needed to be made aware of the dangers of children having unsupervised access.  
Raising awareness with parents could be done through school and parents evenings, but it 
was questionable whether there were more ways to reach out.

Chief Superintendent Adrian Green confirmed that Neighbourhood Beat Teams were 
already working with schools and programmes were embedded within teacher training and 
of social worker upskills, to ensure they were able to identify key issues relating to CSE.

Councilllor Maddison queried whether there was a link between drug abuse and CSE and 
where the information was stored.  The Operations Manager confirmed that there was a 
Drug Alcohol Service and this was activated when substance abuse was identified.  
Children were more likely to be exploited under the influence of drugs or alcohol.  The 
Detective Sergeant confirmed that Durham Constabulary worked closely with other forces 
and would be notified and passed information on any vulnerable children who moved in to 
the area.

Councillor Crute referred to the constant peer pressure on children and the struggle for 
them to reach standards of perceived superiority.  They were often low in confidence and 
more likely to be exploited.  The Operations Manager referred to campaigns aimed at 
educating children and parents about peer pressure.  She added that young people who 
were known to be vulnerable were low in confidence.  If a teacher identified a young 
person lacking in confidence, they were able to access external services to assist in 
reducing the risk.  Low self esteem was on of the early signs of vulnerability and it was 
important to build resilience at this early stage.

In response to a question from Councillor Jopling the Operations Manager confirmed any 
child from any background could be a victim.  It could be that two people in school were 
formerly in a relationship, they parted ways and one of them had a photograph on a mobile 
phone.  Vulnerability was not down to socioeconomics.

In response to a question from Councillor McKeon, the Detective Sergeant confirmed that 
the team had an excellent relationship with children’s homes and fostering agencies and 
had been invited to provide an ERASE presentation to foster carers.

Councillor Jewell queried whether there could be a situation where families did not want to 
take matters further due to the perception of the victim and the Detective Sergeant 
confirmed that if that was to happen, it would identify a failure of the system.

Councillor Iveson queried the role of social media in CSE and the Detective Sergeant 
replied that most young people communicated now via social media and it was considered 
to be a platform where people would take risks they wouldn’t normally.  Information was 
permanent and the speed at which it could be shared was greater, but historically issues 
were contact offences.

Councillor McKeon queried the procedure for a member of the public who was concerned 
about a child and their awareness of how to report suspected CSE.  The Operations 
Manager referred to a recent campaign by ERASE which referred to the reporting 
procedure.  This had been advertised in pubs, at bus stops and on buses and had 
generated a successful number of hits on the website. 

Page 14



On contacting 101, 999 or First Contact, the information would be reviewed in the same 
way.  Operation Makesafe had distributed posters in a number of places such as taxis, 
youth premises, doctors surgeries.

Councillor Turnbull commented on the aftermath of a prosecution where perpetrators were 
seen to have not been punished accordingly.  He was aware of situations where families 
moved out of the area and of children not coming forward in order to avoid stigma.

The Operations Manager referred to Kayleigh’s Love Story and advised that a link would 
be sent for Members who had not yet seen it.

The Chief Superintendent reminded the Committee that most CSE took place in the home 
from known family or family friends.  With regards to the impact of social media, he 
confirmed that historically an incident which started as natural curiosity was nothing more 
than a moment in time, whereas now it was able to be captured with a camera, giving 
people the advantage to use it indecently.  With reference to children’s homes, it was a 
fact that County Durham and Darlington had an extremely high number of children’s 
homes, possibly the highest in terms of other regions, and it was factual that these children 
were at risk.  This placed huge resource issues on police and social services.

Councillor Potts confirmed that Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee would be undertaking a review of private children’s homes in County Durham.

Resolved:

(i) That an update report be presented to Overview and Scrutiny in 12 months.
(ii) That a response containing Members’ comments from the meeting be sent to the 

respective Cabinet Portfolio Holders and relevant partnership boards. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

26 September 2018

Participation in Learning

Report of Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People’s Services. 

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide members of the Children and Young People’s Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee with an update on the participation of young people 
in learning, prior to a presentation by Linda Bailey; Strategic Lead: 
Progression and Learning; Children and Young People’s Services.

Background

2. The Local Authority has a number of statutory duties to encourage, enable 
and assist young people to participate in education or training. These duties1 
include promoting Raising the Participation Age (RPA) compliant participation, 
which requires all young people to remain in learning (that meets specific 
criteria e.g. number of hours) until at least their 18th birthday. 

3. The Local Authority collects and reports the current destinations of young 
people to the Department of Education on a monthly basis. This includes 
information on young people participating in RPA compliant learning; young 
people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET); and young 
people whose current destination is not known. 

4. In terms of current performance, the data shows that the combined proportion 
of young people who are NEET and whose current destination is not known is 
slightly lower in County Durham compared to the regional average but is 
higher than the national average. The data also shows that a lower proportion 
of young people in vulnerable groups are participating in learning and a higher 
proportion are NEET compared to the rest of the cohort. Some young people 
in vulnerable groups encounter significant challenges in their lives that 
requires additional support to enable them to progress into sustained 
education, employment or training. For example, it can be challenging to 
engage some young people who are supported by the Youth Offending 
Service in education, employment or training due to the nature of their 
offending. It can also be challenging to engage some young people who 
present with multiple vulnerabilities e.g. young people who are Care Leavers 
and have SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disabilities).    

1 Duties stipulated in the Education Act 1996, Education and Skills Act 2008, and the Children and 
Families Act 2014. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



Statutory Responsibilities

5. Local authorities have broad duties to encourage, enable and assist young 
people to participate in education or training. Specifically these are: 
 To secure sufficient suitable education and training provision for all young 

people in their area who are over compulsory school age but under 19 or 
aged 19 to 25 and for whom an Education, Health and Care (EHC) plan is 
maintained.

 To make available to all young people aged 13-19 and to those between 
20 and 25 with special educational needs and disabilities (SEND), support 
that will encourage, enable or assist them to participate in education or 
training. 

6. In addition, Local Authorities have two RPA related duties with regard to 16 
and 17 year olds: 
 Local authorities must promote the effective participation in education and 

training of 16 and 17 year olds in their area with a view to ensuring that 
those persons fulfil the duty to participate in education or training. 

 Local authorities must make arrangements to identify 16 and 17 year olds 
who are not participating in education or training. 

Participation in Learning 

7. The following table shows current performance (June 2018) in relation to the 
proportion of 16-17 year olds in County Durham who are participating in 
learning, the proportion who are NEET, and the proportion whose destination 
is Not Known compared to regional and national averages. 

16-17 year olds County 
Durham North East England

Participating in 
Learning 89.8% 90.5% 91.5%

Employment 13.7% 12.2% 9.4%

NEET 5.1% 4.7% 3.0%

Not Known 1.6% 2.1% 3.1%

NEET + Not Known 6.7% 6.8% 6.1%
Department for Education, June 2018.

8. The overall 16-17 cohort in County Durham is 10,370 and the number of 16-
17 year olds who are NEET is 529. Of these, 406 are available to the Labour 
Market and 123 are not available to the Labour Market. The number of 16-17 
year olds whose destination is not known is 167. 

Page 18



9. In terms of trends, the following table shows the difference in participation in 
learning of 16-18 year olds in County Durham at June 2018 compared to June 
2013. During this time, the proportion and number of young people who are 
NEET has reduced and remained stable. Also, there has been an increase in 
the proportion of young people who are in an employment destination.

16-18 year olds June 2013 June 2018

Participating in 
Learning 78.3% 82.8%

Apprenticeships 6.9% 12.6%

Employment 13.4% 21.1%

NEET 8.4% 6.3%

Not Known 8.7% 3.2%

NEET + Not Known 17.1% 9.5%
Durham County Council Client Caseload Information System, 16-18 year olds, June 2013 and June 2018.

10. The following table shows the estimated number of unemployed 16-24 year 
olds from March 2013 to March 2018. This data is based on a sample 
survey, which means it provides an estimate of population characteristics 
rather than an exact measure. Therefore, confidence in the data can be 
variable, especially on occasions when the group sample size is small.

March 2013 March 2018

16-24 year olds 
unemployed in County 
Durham

9,500 4,800

Source: Office for National Statistics, Annual Population Survey – March 2013 to March 2018.

Programmes to Support Young People

11. There are a number of programmes that specifically support young people 
who are NEET, in addition to the broad range of learning opportunities that 
are available for all young people, including Apprenticeships, Traineeships, 
Supported Internships, 16-18 Study Programmes etc. delivered by Further 
Education Colleges and other learning providers. It is important to note that 
there were 5,087 young people aged 16-18 attending a Further Education 
College, 4,034 young people attending a School Sixth Form, and 2,001 young 
people undertaking an Apprenticeship at June 2018.

Page 19



 DurhamWorks Programme

12. DurhamWorks is a European funded, Durham County Council led partnership 
programme that supports young people aged 16-24 who are NEET. The Local 
Authority was recently informed that its application to extend DurhamWorks 
was successful. This means that the overall funding available to support 
unemployed young people who are resident in County Durham will be 
£29.04m between December 2015 and July 2021.

13. The programme specifically targets vulnerable young people, including young 
people with SEND (including those with social, emotional and mental health 
issues), young people who are Looked After, Care Leavers and young people 
who are supervised by the Youth Offending Service. It is based on the 
understanding that vulnerable young people often require sustained additional 
support and that single interventions rarely produce long term impact. 
Therefore, mentoring and personal support, often from specialist staff, is key 
to the DurhamWorks offer.

14. Through DurhamWorks, young people have access to a broad range of 
innovative, flexible activities to meet their needs, ranging from ‘hook-type’ 
provision to engage individuals, activities to develop individual emotional 
resilience, through to programmes to develop skills for employment. There are 
specialist learning providers who have experience of delivering provision that 
is specifically tailored to support young people who have multiple barriers to 
their progression. 

15. DurhamWorks has a specific focus on engaging with employers to develop a 
range of opportunities for young people, from work experience placements 
through to paid employment. As part of the offer to employers, County 
Durham Community Foundation administers a ‘Learning, Working, and 
Earning’ Grant, which provides financial support to small and medium sized 
enterprises to enable them to employ young people.  

16. Since the programme commenced in December 2015, 4,767 verified2 young 
people in County Durham have engaged in DurhamWorks and 3,239 young 
people have participated in education, employment and training as a result. 
The aim is to support over 10,000 young people during the lifetime of the 
programme.  

17. There has also been a seven percentage point increase in young people aged 
16-18 in employment since the start of the DurhamWorks programme (Dec 
2015: 14.8% - July 2018: 21.8%) and a significant decrease in the proportion 
of young people in vulnerable groups who are NEET, including young people 
who have SEND, young people who are Looked After and young people who 
are Care Leavers.

2 A verified young person refers to someone where evidence has been seen to confirm his/her 
eligibility for the DurhamWorks Programme. This consists of evidence to confirm age, residency, 
NEET status, and proof that the young person has a right to live and work in the United Kingdom.     

Page 20



18. The following table shows the proportion of young people aged 16 and above 
in vulnerable groups who are NEET and who are participating in education, 
employment and training at June 2018 compared to December 2015 
(commencement of the DurhamWorks Programme). It is important to note that 
some vulnerable groups (e.g. young people who are supervised by the Youth 
Offending Service) contain relatively small numbers of young people, which 
can have a disproportionate impact on percentages.  

16 year old and above Dec 2015 June 2018

SEND (NEET) 20.2% 16.1%

SEND (EET) 63.3% 67.4%

Looked After (NEET) 21.2% 14.7%

Looked After (EET) 66.7% 80.0%

Care Leavers (NEET) 50.3% 41.6%

Care Leavers (EET) 39.6% 50.4%

Supervised by YOS 
(NEET) 36.2% 33.8%

Supervised by YOS 
(EET) 58.6% 57.1%
Durham County Council, Client Caseload Information System, December 2015 and June 2018.

19. An independent evaluation of DurhamWorks undertaken by York Consulting 
has found that it is the unique design of the comprehensive and long term 
programme of activity, alongside the range of professionals involved - from 
Progression Advisers, Delivery Partners and specialist subcontractors – which 
enables positive outcomes for vulnerable young people.

Durham County Council’s Adult Learning and Skills Service

20. Durham County Council’s Adult Learning and Skills Service delivers a range 
of programmes to support young people to develop skills and gain 
qualifications to support them into work. This includes programmes tailored to 
meet the needs of young people in vulnerable groups.  

(a) Apprenticeships – enable young people to gain qualifications, receive 
training in the work place and earn a salary. A broad range of 
Apprenticeships are available including Business Administration, 
Customer Service, Health and Social Care, Supporting Teaching and 
Learning in Schools.

(b) Traineeships – this is an unpaid education and training programme for 
up to six months with work experience to prepare young people for their 
future careers by helping them to become ‘work ready’.  They are 
designed to help young people aged 16 to 24 who don’t yet have the 

Page 21



appropriate skills or experience, traineeships provide the essential work 
preparation training, English, maths and work experience needed to 
secure an apprenticeship or employment. Durham County Council’s 
Adult Learning and Skills Service has previously delivered two 
traineeship programmes to Care Leavers resulting in positive 
outcomes, with a further programme commencing in autumn 2018. 

(c) Supported internships – these are structured study programmes 
based primarily with an employer.  They enable young people aged 16-
24 who have SEND (with an Education, Health and Care Plan) to 
achieve suitable paid employment by equipping them with the skills 
they need for work, through learning in the workplace.  They are 
unpaid, and last for approximately one year.  Wherever possible, they 
support the young person to move into paid employment at the end of 
the programme.  Alongside their time at the employer, they complete a 
personalised study programme which includes the chance to study for 
relevant qualifications including English and maths. Eleven Supported 
Internships will commence with Durham County Council’s Adult 
Learning and Skills Service in autumn 2018.

Vision to Increase Participation in Learning

21. The Local Authority has engaged with a broad range of partners to implement 
the plan: ‘Believe, Achieve and Succeed: Increasing the Participation of 
Young People in Learning 2015-2018.’ As part of the drive to further increase 
the participation of young people in learning, the partnership vision and plan is 
being updated and will set out the action required to meet the challenges and 
opportunities across the next three years.    

Conclusion

22. This report has set out the Local Authority’s statutory responsibilities in 
relation to the participation of young people in education or training; current 
performance in relation to young people who are NEET and young people 
whose current destination is not known; as well as programmes that are 
currently available to support young people into education, employment or 
training. 

Recommendations

23. Members are asked to note and comment upon the information provided 
within the report and during the presentation.

24. That the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
continues to receive further updates about the participation of young people in 
learning at future meetings of the Committee.

Contact: Linda Bailey            Tel:   01325 375 940
                                                      E-mail: linda.bailey@durham.gov.uk 

Page 22

mailto:linda.bailey@durham.gov.uk


Appendix 1: Implications 

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity – N/A

Accommodation – N/A 

Crime and Disorder – N/A 

Human Rights – N/A 

Consultation – N/A 

Procurement – N/A 

Disability Discrimination Act –N/A 

Legal Implications – N/A 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5

CYPS Overview and Scrutiny 

26 September 2018

Durham Local Safeguarding Children 
Board Annual Report 2017/18 and Young 
People’s Annual Report 2017/18

Report of Michael Banks, Independent Chair, Durham LSCB

Purpose of the Report

1. The purpose of this report is to present CYPS Overview and Scrutiny with the 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) Annual Report 2017/18 
(Appendix 2) and Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 (Appendix 3) for 
information.

Background

2. Durham LSCB is a statutory body established under the Children Act 2004. It is 
independently chaired and consists of senior representatives of all the principle 
stakeholders working together to safeguard children and young people in County 
Durham.
 

3. The LSCB’s primary responsibility is to provide a way for local organisations that 
have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work 
together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children in County Durham and 
to ensure that they do so effectively.

4. Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015 requires each Local Safeguarding 
Children Board to produce and publish an Annual Report evaluating the 
effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area.

5. Throughout April and May 2018 both draft versions of the Annual Report have 
been circulated to the LSCB Board; partner agencies and stakeholders and 
Corporate Management Team for consultation and comment.  The feedback 
received has been incorporated into the final document.

Durham LSCB Annual Report and Young People’s Annual Report

6. The Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017/18 sets out the work of the LSCB to 
ensure effective arrangements are in place to safeguard and protect vulnerable 
children and young people from abuse and neglect. 

7. The report describes the work undertaken against the 2017/18 priorities and sets 
out the future priorities for 2018/19.  It describes the local governance 
arrangements and structure of Durham LSCB and provides a summary of the 
use of restraint in secure centres, Serious Case Reviews, and the LSCB multi-
agency training provision.

Page 25

Agenda Item 8



Page 2 of 5

8. The report also provides and overview of the Children and Social Work Act 2017 
in respect of the forthcoming changes to new Safeguarding Arrangements that 
will be developed in 2018.  

9. The Young People’s Annual Report refreshes the work previously done with 
Durham Constabulary’s Police Cadets (spanning key stages 3-5) and various 
secondary schools identified by the Education Development Service. Written in 
clear language, it provides general safeguarding information from a young 
person’s perspective.

Achievements and Progress Highlights

10.Below are some examples of achievements and progress made by the LSCB in 
2017/18:

 Revised the Children’s Services Referral Form improving the quality of 
information submitted to First Contact.

 New learning materials for Serious Case Reviews to support mangers with 
wider dissemination of learning, contributing to improved professional 
development and understanding of local safeguarding themes.

 Engaged with dental practices and Dental Network Group to improved 
multi-agency work to reduce the effect of Neglect and its hidden harms.

 Published our second Annual Report for Young People that provides 
general safeguarding information from a young person’s perspective.

 Launched a series of Safeguarding Factsheets covering subjects such as 
Child Sexual Exploitation, Alcohol Licensing, Multi-Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements and Hackney Carriage and Private Hire (Taxis).

 Delivered a range of events for Safeguarding Week 2017 that were 
attended by over 860 staff from partner agencies raising the profile of 
safeguarding and promoting the key message of ‘Safeguarding is 
Everyone Responsibility’.  

 Introduced a new web-based multi-agency auditing programme, providing 
inspection ready audits and processes whilst reducing demands on 
partner agencies administration during audit participation.

 Supported a considerable programme of specialist training improving 
practitioners understanding, interventions and assessment skills.  

LSCB Priorities 2018-19

11.Durham LSCB has agreed the following priorities for 2018-19:

 Child Sexual Exploitation

 Neglect

 Empowering Young People 

 Working Together

Page 26



Page 3 of 5

Sign off and Publication

12.The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 2017/18 and 
Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18 was agreed by the LSCB Board on the 
04 June 2018. 

13.The Annual Reports are available to download from the LSCB website - 
www.durham-lscb.org.uk and will be disseminated through partners 
organisational governance structures throughout Summer and Autumn 2018 

Recommendations

14. CYPS Overview and Scrutiny is recommended to:

 Note the content of the report 

 Accept the LSCB Annual Reports for information as an overview of the 
work undertaken in 2017/18 and priorities for action in 2018/19.

Contact: Jacqui Doherty, LSCB Business Manager, Tel 03000 263989 

Page 27

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Page 4 of 5

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance
Yearly financial contributions to Durham LSCB are received from partner agencies 
and are detailed in the LSCB Annual Report.  

Staffing
The priorities identified in the LSCB Annual Report will be delivered using existing 
resources.  Durham County Council will contribute to the delivery of the priorities in 
partnership with other responsible authorities.  

Risk 
No adverse implications.

Equality and Diversity/ Public Sector Equality Duty
The LSCB Annual Report identifies the actions to safeguard the needs of vulnerable 
children and young people.

Accommodation
No adverse implications.  

Crime and disorder
The LSCB Annual Report reflects priorities and action that impact positively on crime 
and disorder in County Durham.  The report shows effective partnership working with 
the Safe Durham Partnership.

Human rights
No adverse implications.

Consultation
Consultation with partner agencies and stakeholders will be undertaken as part of 
the development of the LSCB Annual Report.

Procurement 
No adverse implications.

Disability Issues
No adverse implications.  

Legal Implications 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) is a statutory body established 
under the Children Act 2004. Working Together to Safeguard Children (Statutory 
Guidance) requires each Local Safeguarding Children Board to produce and publish 
an Annual Report evaluating the effectiveness of safeguarding in the local area. 

Page 28



Page 5 of 5

Appendix 2 – Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017/18

Attached as a separate file

Appendix 3 – Durham LSCB Young People’s Annual Report 2017/18

Attached as a separate file

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report        
2017 / 2018 

Safeguarding Children  

in County Durham  
  

P
age 31



 

2 
 

Contents 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. Introduction ......................................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. Local Data ........................................................................................................................................................................... 5 

4. Governance and Structure .................................................................................................................................................. 7 

5. Achievements against 2016/17 Priorities .......................................................................................................................... 10 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance ............................................................................................................... 17 

7. Training and Communication ............................................................................................................................................ 23 

8. Future Priorities ................................................................................................................................................................. 25 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership .......................................................................................................................................... 26 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget ............................................................................................................................... 28 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

P
age 32



 

3 
 

1. Foreword by Independent Chair 
Welcome to the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) 

Annual Report for 2017/18. This is my last report as the LSCB 

Independent Chair and I would like to thank all those involved in the 

progress the LSCB has made over my three year tenure.  I would 

also like to welcome Michael Banks the new Transitional Chair who 

will take the LSCB through the new Safeguarding Arrangements in 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  You can read more about 

that on Page 8.     

This annual report provides local people with an account of the 

LSCB’s work over the past year to improve the safeguarding and 

wellbeing of children and young people across County Durham.   

The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups 

against the agreed priorities for 2017/18.  It also reports on the 

Serious Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities and 

safeguarding work we will take forward into 2018/19. 

As always, the children and young people of County Durham are at 

the very heart of all we do and our vision of ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from 

harm’ continues to drive us forward.  

 

We have continued to increase the visibility and the ‘Voice of the 

Child’ and over the course of the year our focus on ‘Empowering 

Young People’ has helped us to understand more fully the 

experience of the child or young person receiving help and support.  
 

We continue to take part in the Children Commissioner’s Takeover 

Challenge; working with young people to produce our interactive 

Annual Report for Young People.  This kind of engagement and 

participation from young people has been recognised for the last 

three years by maintaining our Investing In Children status. 

 

I would like to thank and recognise the contribution of our Lay 

Members and the Children and Young People Portfolio Holder who 

bring another layer of independent scrutiny to the work of the LSCB. 

 

Lastly I would like to thank the many 

partner agencies for their hard work 

and dedication during a time of huge 

demand and whose commitment and 

motivation helps deliver our shared 

priorities.  

 

I know Durham is well placed to 

introduce the new arrangements 

through Safeguarding Partners and 

continue to protect and safeguard our 

children and young people.  I wish you 

all well.       Jane Geraghty 

Durham LSCB Independent Chair  

P
age 33

http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/


 

4 
 

2. Introduction 
Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to 

prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our 

partners safeguard vulnerable children and young people.  

 

Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local agencies 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how 

they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of 

children and to ensure that they do so effectively.  

 

Section 3 of the report highlights some statistical information about 

County Durham and provides a local context for our work.   

 

Section 4 describes the local governance arrangements and 

structure of Durham LSCB.  It also provides information on the new 

Safeguarding Arrangements that will be introduced in 2018/19 

through the Children and Social Work Act 2017.   

 

Section 5 highlights some of the achievements and the progress 

that has been made in the last year as well as reporting on the work 

undertaken against the 2017/18 priorities.   

 

Section 6 covers our Performance Management Framework and 

describes the multi-agency audits we have undertaken.  It also 

provides an overview of Serious Case Reviews and the use of 

restraint in Aycliffe Secure Services Centre.   

 

Section 7 outlines our multi-agency training provision and describes 

the marketing and communication activity undertaken by the LSCB. 

 

 

Lastly, Section 8 identifies the priorities Durham LSCB will take 

forward into 2018/19.  

 

The Annual Report 2017/18 demonstrates the extent to which the 

functions of the Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board, as set 

out in the national statutory guidance ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children’ (March 2015) are being effectively fulfilled. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

The information presented in this Annual Report is drawn from a wide range of 

sources from across the County Durham Partnership. These include the County 

Durham Integrated Needs Assessment; Lessons Learned from local Serious Case 

Reviews; the Child Death Review Annual Report; and a range of Durham LSCB 

strategy documents and action plans.   

 More Information: Find out more information about the    

          Integrated Needs Assessment 
 

P
age 34

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8461/Integrated-Needs-Assessment


 

5 
 

3. Local Data 

County Durham stretches from the rural North Pennines Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty in the west to the Heritage Coastline in 

the east and is home to a range of national treasures including 

Durham Cathedral, a UNESCO World Heritage Site.    

 

 

 
 

 

Data source: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 

 

 

The county has a very diverse combination of communities ranging 

from some of the most sparsely populated rural areas in the country 

through to the larger towns and Durham City; each area with its own 

needs and aspirations. 

 

 
  

In 2016, there were an estimated 522,143 people 
living in County Durham

The County has seen a decline in the 0-15 
population since 2001. However this decline has 

seen a slight reversal between 2011 and 2016

The County has 12 major centres of population 
including Durham City, Chester-le-Street, Newton 

Aycliffe, Consett and Peterlee

Although levels of deprivation in County Durham have 
improved we are ranked the 75th most deprived area 

out of 326 local authorities in England

Child poverty in County Durham is higher than the 
England average, with 23.9% of children under 16 

years living in poverty

P
age 35

http://www.ons.gov.uk/


 

6 
 

Local Safeguarding Data 2017/18 (Provisional Data) 

498 children were subject to a Child 

Protection Plan (50 per 10,000 population 

aged 0-18).  

 

A continued reduction of the percentage of Child Protection Plans 

that lasted two years or more and has fallen to 0.9%. 

 

Children on a Child Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time, 

within two years of the previous plan is 6.2%.  

 

Neglect continues to be the most frequent reason for 

children being placed on a Child Protection Plan in 2017/18. 

 

71.6% of children who were made subject of a Child Protection 

Plan under five years old were 

made so due to neglect.  This is a 

reduction of 7% from the 

previous year. 

 

Domestic abuse continues to 

be the main parental risk factor 

leading to children becoming 

subject of a Child Protection Plan.  

Mental Health (15.9%), Neglect 

(15.5%), Parental Capacity (11.5%) 

and Substance Misuse (11.2%) are 

also significant factors.  

798 children are in the Looked After system.  

  

19 children were in Private Fostering 

arrangements during this period. 

 

49 children and young people were reported 

missing from home in County Durham more than once. 

 

177 Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) 

referrals. This is an increase on previous 

years and reflects a heightened awareness.     

Of those targeted 80% are girls.   

Online Grooming is the most common model of CSE. 

 

6 Serious Case Reviews commenced and 2 Serious 

Case Reviews published. 7 learning lessons events for 

practitioners delivered throughout the year. 

 

20,015 unique users visited the 

LSCB website in 2017/18 with over 

115,000 page views. 

 

A total of 100 multi-agency training 

courses and events were delivered 

and attended by 4,113 staff.   

P
age 36



 

7 
 

4. Governance and Structure 

 

Local Safeguarding Children Board 

Each local area is required by Law to have a Local Safeguarding 

Children Board. The LSCB is a statutory body established in 

legislation (Children Act 2004) and works according to national 

guidance ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015’. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board is chaired by an 

independent person and meets quarterly. The Board held two 

development sessions in 2017/18 taking the total number of 

meeting to six a year. Durham LSCB is supported by the LSCB 

Business Unit which is hosted by Durham County Council.    

 

The functions of the LSCB are: 

 

 To develop policies and procedures for safeguarding and 

promoting the welfare of children in the local area  

 To communicate and raise awareness of the need to 

safeguard and promote the welfare of children 

 To monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of what is done 

by the local authority and their Board partners 

individually and collectively to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children and advise them on ways to improve 

 To participate in the planning of services for children in 

the area of the authority 

 To undertake reviews of serious cases and advising the 

local authority and their Board partners on lessons to be 

learned 

 

The governance and effectiveness arrangements form the formal 

agreement between the LSCB Board and all partner agencies.  

It outlines accountability; key purposes; functions and tasks; 

membership; and agreed standards and expectations of LSCB 

members.  

 

 

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about 
keeping children and 

young people safe and 
protecting them from 

harm, while making sure 
they grow up in a safe 

environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 
children and young people, 

safeguarding them from 
harm and protecting those 

children who are at 
significant risk of harm or 

neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the 
Councils’ Children and 

Young People’s Services, the 
Police, Schools and Colleges 
and Health Services such as 
GPs, Hospitals and Health 

Visitors are all here to help.

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board 

 

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm 

P
age 37

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


 

8 
 

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 

Following the Wood Review and the Children and Social Work Bill in 

2016, new safeguarding arrangements were passed into law 

through the Children and Social Work Act 2017.  

 

Provisions within the Children and Social Work Act 2017 will replace 

Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCBs) with new local 

safeguarding arrangements, led by three Safeguarding Partners 

and supported by relevant agencies. It also places a duty on new 

Child Death Review partners to review the deaths of children 

normally resident in the local area.  

 

In October 2017 the Department of Education (DfE) consulted on the 

draft ‘Working Together to Safeguard Children 2018’ guidance which 

lays down in much more detail the new safeguarding arrangements.  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board provided a full response 

to this consultation. 

 

Alongside the ‘Working Together’ 

consultation documents, the DfE 

released statutory guidance on 

transitional arrangements. 

 

This document for Local Authorities, 

Police, Health and LSCBs provides 

guidance on the arrangements that 

should operate as part of the transition 

from LSCB’s to Safeguarding Partners 

and Child Death Review Partners.   

 

Safeguarding Partners are identified as: 

 Local Authorities 

 Chief Officers of Police 

 Clinical Commissioning Groups   

 

Child Death Review Partners are identified as:  

 Local Authorities  

 Clinical Commissions Groups 

 

Safeguarding Partners will identify the relevant agencies required to 

support local safeguarding arrangements and will include agencies 

that are currently members of the LSCB. 

 

The guidance also describes the transitional arrangements which 

should be followed during the transition from the system of Serious 

Case Reviews to the new national and local review arrangements.  

 

A formal date when the relevant provisions of the Children and 

Social Work Act commence, has not been confirmed.  However, it is 

expected to be in conjunction with the launch of ‘Working Together to 

Safeguard Children 2018’.  

 

Following this Safeguarding Partners will have up to twelve months 

to agree safeguarding arrangements. These arrangements must be 

subject to independent scrutiny.  Development days are planned to 

begin June 2018 onwards to commence the process of change. 

 

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board will continue to 

carry out all of their statutory functions, until the point at which 

safeguarding partner arrangements begin to operate.  

P
age 38

https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/
https://consult.education.gov.uk/child-protection-safeguarding-and-family-law/working-together-to-safeguard-children-revisions-t/supporting_documents/Transitional.pdf


 

9 
 

Working across Partnerships 

Durham LSCB works with a wide range of themed partnerships. 

Together they form the overarching County Durham Partnership and 

work towards an ‘Altogether Better Durham’.   

 

Each of the five thematic partnerships has a specific focus: 

 The Children and Families Partnership – Works to ensure 

effective services are delivered in the most 

efficient way to improve the lives of children, 

young people and families. 

 The Health and Wellbeing Board – 

Promotes integrated working between 

commissioners of health services, 

public health and social care services, 

to improve health and wellbeing.  

 The Safe Durham Partnership – 

Tackles crime, disorder, substance 

misuse, anti-social behaviour and to 

reduce re-offending. 

 The Environment Partnership – 

Improves, transforms and sustains the 

environment to support the economy and 

the wellbeing of local communities. 

 The Economic Partnership – Works to make County 

Durham an area where people want to live, work, invest and 

visit; whilst enabling residents and businesses to achieve their 

full economic potential. 

 

Durham LSCB will continue to engage and challenge these 

partnerships where appropriate to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children in County Durham. 

We have strengthened our joint working with a range of partnerships 

on shared or similar priorities.  Examples include: 

Working with the Safe Durham Partnership in 

respect of domestic abuse, alcohol misuse, 

substance misuse and counter terrorism 

(PREVENT duty). Aligning and improving work 

within sexual violence, sexual exploitation and 

female genital mutilation. 

  

Joint working with the Children and Families 

Partnership to increase the voice of the child 

through work that includes the student voice 

survey and the Children’s Commissioner’s 

Takeover Challenge. 

 

Greater integration of the mental health and 

wellbeing agenda with the Health and Wellbeing 

Board and the development of a range of support 

aimed to reduce self-harm and suicide.  

 More Information: Find out more information about    
         County Durham Partnership 

 

P
age 39

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk
http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/


 

10 
 

5. Achievements against 2017/18 Priorities 

Published our Annual Report for Young People. 

Impact: This puts young people at the heart of the 

development and production of an annual report providing 

interactive safeguarding information from a young person’s 

perspective. 

Revised Children’s Services Referral Form re-aligning 

the order of information and reducing the amount of 

paperwork required. Impact: The new referral form has 

improved the quality of information submitted to First 

Contact and our response to Neglect. Enabling families to 

get the right help at the right time and at the earliest opportunity. 

New learning materials for Serious Case Reviews to 

support mangers with wider dissemination of learning.      

Impact: Materials contribute to improving supervision, 

training and team meetings. Giving staff more opportunities 

to reflect and improve their practice. This means children 

and young people will be better supported and safeguarded. 

Engaged with dental practices and Dental Network 

Group. Impact: Improved multi-agency work to reduce the 

effect of dental Neglect. This means children and young 

people are better protected from hidden harms may be 

referred for support at an earlier stage. 

Online Child Protection Procedures          

Impact: Providing an up-to-date web based solution 

for practitioners that is fully searchable and accessible 24 hours 

a day from a wide range of devices. 

Launched a series of Safeguarding Factsheets covering 

subjects such as Child Sexual Exploitation, Alcohol 

Licensing, and Taxis Drivers. Impact: Plain english 

factsheets, providing specific information. This improves 

protective factors (eyes and ears in the community), and 

means children and young people are protected in local areas. 

Introduced a web-based multi-agency auditing 

programme. Impact: Providing inspection ready audits and 

processes whilst reducing demands on partner agencies 

administration during audit participation. This means 

families can be assured of the ongoing quality checks of the 

services they receive. 

Reviewed and introduced new Neglect training, Toxic 

Quad training and Neglect e-learning. Impact: This new 

training supports practitioners, improving their learning, 

understanding and assessment skills. This means children 

and young people will be better supported and safeguarded 

against Neglect. 

Specialist Briefings – Exploitation and Radicalisation / 

Psychology and Behaviour of Sex Offenders / Working with 

Partners & Families / Risk, Harm and Decision Making 

Impact: These specialist briefing sessions have enabled 

staff to receive information and guidance that can be 

incorporated into their working practices and protect children. 

Safeguarding Week 2017 – Impact: These events 

were attended by over 860 staff with a Facebook reach 

of over 30,000 views; raising the profile of safeguarding and 

promoting ‘Safeguarding is Everyone Responsibility’.   

P
age 40



 

11 
 

Professional Challenge 

Professional challenge and critical reflection within safeguarding is a 

professional responsibility.  It is a sign of good professional 

practice, a healthy organisation and effective multi-agency working. 

 

Challenging decisions, practice or actions when concerns arise may 

alter the professional response when ensuring the safety or well-

being of a child or young person or their family.  

 

The LSCB risk register 

and challenge log is a 

well-established tool that 

is used to ensure partners 

provide mitigating actions 

to reduce identified risks 

and acts on challenges 

made to agencies.      

This is reviewed at each 

LSCB Board meeting. 

 

Examples of Professional Challenge  

The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) challenges agencies if 

agreed actions are not progressed within timescales and escalation 

processes are in place. For example, following a thematic review the 

CDOP have challenged Sustainability and Transformation Plans 

(STP) and Clinical Network in relation to the findings for maternity 

services. 
 

Similarly, the Board monitors actions for learning following a Serious 

Case Review to ensure actions are progressed and implemented. 

The LSCB have introduced challenge clinics to hold organisations 

to account following Section 11 audits and multi-agency audits.        

This has encouraged single agencies (such as GPs) to be more 

challenging of the evidence presented in audits, to dig deeper and in 

turn become more confident and robust in their audit compliance. 

 

The LSCB challenge alcohol licence applications under the Licensing 

Act 2003 on their actions to protect children and young people and 

instigate a licensing review for failure to uphold licensing objectives. 

 

A continued challenge from the Independent Chair is to improve the 

voice of the child. This has resulted in the Empowering Young 

People sub group and collaborative work with children’s groups, 

schools, youth centres, the police youth cadets, Investors in Children 

and local Area Action Partnerships (AAP’s). 

 

Professional challenge also takes place at a senior level through a 

Chief Officers Safeguarding Group which includes the LSCB 

Independent Chair, Durham County Council, local Clinical 

Commissioning Groups, Probation organisations, local NHS 

Foundation Trusts and Durham Constabulary. This forum allows the 

opportunity to challenge and share information on safeguarding 

issues including: 

 Learning and recurring themes from Serious Case Reviews 

and Child Death Reviews 

 Quality, impact and development of frontline practice 

 Outcomes of multi-agency audits and action plans 

 Emerging safeguarding concerns or trends 

 Development of new Safeguarding Arrangements  

  

P
age 41



 

12 
 

Progress on LSCB priorities 2017/18 

 

LSCB Priorities 2017/18 

In setting the priorities for 2017/18 the LSCB Board reviewed the 

progress on previous priorities and considered key themes and 

emerging challenges from Serious Case Reviews.  As a result 

Child Sexual Exploitation was retained; Early Help and Neglect was 

refocused to concentrate fully on tackling Neglect. Two new priorities 

were established; Empowering Young People and Working 

Together.  

 

Click on the tabs below to take you to each priority section in the 

report. 

 

Priority 1 – Reducing Child Sexual Exploitation  

 
Multi-agency work is coordinated through the LSCB Missing and 

Exploited Group (MEG). Its remit is to monitor partner activity and 

improve the services and responses to reported missing and absent 

children and the multi-agency response to Child Sexual Exploitation. 

 

Over the past year partner agencies have continued to prove their 

multi-agency and single agency commitment to this work. 

Mainstream funding for ERASE Support Workers and PCSOs have 

been secured. All work is intelligence lead and is coordinated 

through the Durham LSCB Child Sexual Exploitation Strategy across 

the following three strands: 

 Preventing CSE from happening 

 Protecting those who may be at risk 

 Pursing those who may be offending against children 

Reducing Child 

Sexual 

Exploitation 

Working 

Together

Tackling 

Neglect

Empowering 

Young 

People

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form of child 
abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is persuaded, bullied or 
forced into having sex or sexual activity such as 
taking and sharing naked photos of themselves

• This can be in return for things like alcohol, money, 
drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term effects on 
young people and their families

P
age 42

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children


 

13 
 

We have widened our Exploitation and Grooming training to 

agencies not traditionally associated with safeguarding but who 

come into regular contact with vulnerable children.  This include 

some innovative work with Arriva Bus Services and Go North East. 

In addition we have also engaged with a number of regional sports 

academies such a Durham Football Association and Durham County 

Cricket Club. 

  

We have seen the introduction of 

Operation Artemis which focuses on 

tackling and disrupting offenders and 

dangerous perpetrators. This 

complements the work of Operation Makesafe targeting hotspot 

locations and awareness raising work protecting young people. 

 

 
 

In 2018 we will increase our focus on boys and young men at 

risk of CSE.  We also recognise that parents want more information 

to protect their children and we will develop actions to support this. 

 

We will introduce CSE champions in schools and further 

education settings to enhance the safeguarding role already in 

place and we will continue to focus our work on missing from 

education; permanent exclusions; and home educated children.  

 

Learning Point  

Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about the risk factors of 

Child Sexual Exploitation.  

Some of the work we are doing to tackle CSE

• Support the ERASE brand - website, media campaign 
Erase support workers, education materials

• Increased intelligence around Missing From 
Education / Permanent Exclusions / Home Educated

• Refreshed the CSE risk assessment tool and child 
protection procedures helping to protect and support 
victims while disrupting offenders

• Embedded CSE training in partner agencies for 
example - training now mandatory for school nurses

• Aligning CSE audits to the new Joint Targeted Area 
Inspections (JTAI)  

The LSCB has supported the police funded 
Child Advocacy Centre pilot aimed at 

children who are victims of sexual abuse 
and is intended to improve the victim’s 

journey from report to court and beyond. In 
addition a new ‘team around the child’ to 

provide a seamless therapeutic service.  

 More Information: Find out more information about         
        Missing and Exploited Children 

 

P
age 43

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/missing-and-exploited-children/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xLlJlmCgRlc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dfvFzOGwESM


 

14 
 

Priority 2 – Working Together  

 
To support the aims of Working Together, the group devised and 

delivered a Practitioner Survey within the LSCB annual programme 

of auditing for 2017/18.   

 

This gathered the voice and experience of practitioners across a 

range of multi-agency work with over 800 responses received in a 

two month period. The responses identified a number of areas where 

actions was required. 

 

Thresholds 

It was identified that more 

training was required to 

improve partner 

agencies understanding 

of the Thresholds 

Document and to 

formalise the terminology.  

The 0-19 Level of Need was renamed to the Threshold Document to 

take away any ambiguity while briefings sessions, newsletter items, 

and web updates covering the subject have also been delivered. 

 

Safeguarding Referrals 

It was highlighted that practitioners were unhappy with the format of 

the referral documentation. In response the Neglect Group has 

extensively revised the Children’s Services Referral Form during 

2017/18. (More information about this can be found on Page 16).  

 

Learning Point 

The Working Together group have 

also been working to implement 

learning from Serious Case Reviews.   

This two minute video asks you to       

re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications. 
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)  

What is Working Together?

• The aim is to achieve excellent partnership working 
across all areas of LSCB business

• Drilling down into problems and finding solutions that 
work for every agency

• Changing agency culture to improve multi-agency 
practice following learning from Serious Case Reviews

Some of the work to support Working Together

• Thresholds: Strengthen agreed shared thresholds across 
the partnership

• Focused Intervention: Assurance that children receiving 
support as a child in need, receive focused intervention in a 
time appropriate to the child

• Removing Barriers: Understanding the blockages, 
implementing lessons learnt and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing: Understanding the barriers 
to local information sharing and mitigating issues

P
age 44

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect/toolkits-and-guidance-for-practitioners-single-assessments-and-early-help
https://vimeo.com/196256529
https://vimeo.com/196256529


 

15 
 

Priority 3 – Reducing Neglect   

 
In 2017/18 the priority of Early Help and Neglect was refocused to 

concentrate fully on tackling Neglect. As a result the sub group 

launched the Tackling Neglect Strategy in April 2017. This was 

followed with a tackling neglect delivery plan with assigned lead 

officers identified for all priority actions. 

 

The Tackling Neglect Strategy is aligned to four strategic objectives: 

 Understand Neglect – To understand the local picture of 

neglect and the thresholds for intervention. 

 Early Identification – To improve the recognition and 

assessment of neglect for children to ensure the most 

appropriate response is given.  

 Effective Provision – To offer effective, evidence based 

interventions that reduce neglect before statutory intervention 

is required and to act decisively where these do not result in 

change for the child. 

 Family Focus – To use the experience of our families and the 

voice of the child in the development and delivery of services. 

 

 

 

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to look after a child and could 
result in poor health or development

• Children (including unborn babies), need food, water, 
shelter, warmth, protection and health care to grow 
and develop

• Children need their parents or carers to love and care 
for them

• Neglect can also include physical abuse, emotional 
abuse and sexual abuse

Some of the work to tackle Neglect

• Considered new tools to support practitioners such as  
Signs of Safety which will be implemented in 2018  

• Multi-agency working to tackle dental decay including new 
links to dental practices and the Dental Network

• Embedding multi-agency audits to monitor and review 
practice and also prepare staff to be inspection ready

• Delivered a Tackling Neglect Conference to over 160 
practitsioners

• Reviewed and introduced new multi-agency neglect 
training, toxic quad training and e-learning training 

 
Neglect is the            

greatest single cause of 
children needing 

protection and care       
in County Durham 

P
age 45

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect


 

16 
 

Children’s Services Referral Form 

The Neglect Group have overseen the introduction of a new referral 

form. Over time the old 

form had become part of a 

bigger single assessment 

and was unwieldly. The 

opportunity was taken to 

consult widely with a full 

range of partner agencies. 

As a result the new referral 

form has been re-aligned 

to follow the order of 

information needed and key documents such as the Threshold 

Document are now embedded into the referral form.   

 

It has improved the quality of information submitted and will, in 

the future, have the facility to be completed on-line. During the 

relaunch the Neglect Group identified the main services to target in 

addition to the planned general awareness through LSCB website 

and briefing sessions. A marketing evaluation noted the very smooth 

transition – minimum fuss, maximum impact. 

 

Learning Point 

Neglect Video: Michelle's Story  

This is the story of Michelle and 

her experience of neglect as she 

was growing up. Click the picture 

to watch the video. 

 

Where the right support and intervention is provided to a child or 

young person it can have a dramatic effect on them and their life 

opportunities.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Durham LSCB recognise that although good progress has been 

delivered by services to tackle neglect we need to continue this 

focus to support children and young people who suffer the 

consequences of growing up in neglectful circumstances.  

 

 

  

Thank you for everything 
you have done for me, you 
have helped me so much. 
Yes I know it's your job but 
you have changed my life. 
 

You have watch me grow 
from a little girl into a stroppy 
teenager, I like myself a lot 
more now. I still write in my 
diary how my day has been.  
 

We have had many ups and 
downs where I may have 
disagreed with you but in the 
end I know it's because you 
wanted what was best for 
me.  
 

I will never forget you. 

Dear Everyone, I just want to say 
a huge thank you for helping our 
Mam and Dad get us home and I 
know I am going to be happy 
now. I am looking forward to 
spending time with Mam and 
Dad and coming to visit you too. 
 

Thank you to my Nannie and 
Grandad for looking after us for 
the last few months. 

(Read out at a Family Group Conference). 

 More Information: Find out more information about  
        Neglect 

P
age 46

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/early-help-and-neglect/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0X8gsyk0Dv8


 

17 
 

Priority 4 – Empowering Young People    

 

As part of the Children 

Commissioner’s Takeover 

Challenge we have again worked 

with young people to develop our 

Annual Report for Young People. 

It provides safeguarding information 

from a young person’s perspective.  

We have directly engaged 

with a range of young 

people to provide the content, 

while groups within schools 

and the police cadets have 

acted as an editor’s group.  

Our work with children and young people continues to be recognised 

by ‘Investing In Children’ as good practice.   

To increase young people’s 

awareness of safeguarding 

issues we have developed 

and piloted an innovative 

interactive education 

package that can be used in 

a wide variety of setting such 

as schools PHSE sessions, 

colleges and youth centres. 

The Safeguarding 

Education Toolkit will be 

rolled out in the academic year 2018/19.  

We continue to increase the visibility and voice of the child and 

this year we have focused on improving the influence of children in 

the Child Protection processes.  We have worked with the Youth 

Advocacy Service (NYAS) and the IRO service in developing new 

approaches to engaging young people in the conference process.  

In 2018/19 we will focus work on cyberbullying and online abuse 

in response to continued concerns raised in the annual Student 

Voice survey undertaken by 

Durham County Council. 

 

 Learning Point 

Listen to Amy-Louise shares her 

story about being bullied online.   

What is Empowering Young People?

• To increase the voice of the child to make sure 
that services take young people's views and 
opinions into account when they plan services

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-skilling'
opportunities for young people in safeguarding 
and risk awareness

• Staff working with children and young people want 
to know what they think and how things can be 
made better for them

P
age 47

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw


 

18 
 

6. Performance Monitoring and Quality Assurance 

Durham LSCB continually monitors the quality, timeliness and 

effectiveness of multi-agency practice through the Performance 

Management Framework.   

Where gaps are identified, implications for the LSCB are considered 

and any agreed actions are monitored through the LSCB risk 

register and challenge log.  

The LSCB sub groups (align to priorities) have an agreed action plan 

and performance scorecard.  Performance and progress is reported 

at the sub group level and collated through the Quality and 

Performance Group up to the LSCB Board to monitored and 

challenge.  

 

 

 

 

 

Serious Case Reviews are published on the Durham LSCB website 

for a period of 12 months. There are currently two published 

Serious Case Reviews.  

Outcomes and findings feed into our performance structures to 

promote a culture of continuous learning and improvement across 

the partner agencies of the LSCB. 

The Child Death Overview Panel for Durham and Darlington share 

their key learning from child deaths. They monitor and challenge 

agencies for the completion of recommended identified actions and 

publish a separate annual report. Find out more information about 

Child Death Reviews.  

Ongoing Quality Assurance

• Monitor partner compliance with the statutory 
requirement to have effective safeguarding 
arrangements in place (Section 11)

• Carry out multi-agency audits and identify lessons to 
be learned and make recommendations for future 
improvement and feeding into LSCB training

• Multi-agency audit reports to inform the LSCB Board of 
the quality of work being undertaken and its impact on 
outcomes for individual children and young people

• Overview of multi-audits to monitor and review practice

• The use of a series of performance scorecards 

We host learning events where key messages and the lessons 

learned from the published Serious Case Reviews undertaken 

are shared with practitioners and agencies.  
(Neglect Conference March 2018) 

P
age 48

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


 

19 
 

Multi-agency Audits 

Last year the LSCB introduced a web-based auditing system.      

This has dramatically reduced demands on partner’s administration 

function during audit participation while at the same time sustaining 

the quality of responses.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Section 11 audit conducted in 2016/17 included responses from 

GPs for the first time.  Agencies identified a total of 31 separate 

actions compiled into a Section 11 action plan and is monitored 

through the Quality and Performance Group.   
 

To free up resources to support the JTAI audits the LSCB Board 

agreed to conduct Section 11 audits on a two yearly cycle with the 

next Section 11 audit to be planned in 2018/19. 

 

Joint Targeted Area Inspections  

Responding to the introduction of Joint Targeted Area Inspections 

(JTAI) the LSCB Board have agree to align their audit programme 

to reflect the planned themes audits of the JTAI. Not only does this 

still allow us to monitor and review practice it also enables agencies 

to prepare staff to be inspection ready.   
 

Multi-Agency Joint Audit Process 

We have develop a joint audit process and are part of the JTAI 

Steering Group. 

 

  

Other multi-agency audits undertaken in 2017/18

• Child Sexual Exploitation Cases

• Toxic Quartet (Domestic Abuse, Substance Misuse, Mental 
Health, Parental learning capacity)

• Home Environment Assessment Tool

• Practitioner Survey

• Implementation of Early Help
 More Information: Find out more information about    
         Performance Management and S11 Audit 

 

A Section 11 Audit is Durham LSCB’s primary audit to examine 

the safeguarding arrangements within agencies and provides the 

Board with assurance that agencies are doing what they can to 

ensure the safety and welfare of children and young people. 

P
age 49

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/multi-agency-safeguarding-arrangements/performance-management/


 

20 
 

The Use of Restraint in Secure Settings 

In conjunction with Durham County Council, Durham LSCB monitors 

the use of restraint at Aycliffe Secure Services Centre. Many of the 

young people are placed there by Local Authorities and Courts 

outside of the Durham area. Since 2011 and in line with ‘Working 

Together’ guidance we have reported on the use of restraint. 

 

 

 

 

Aycliffe Secure Services Centre houses a changing population of 

young people (aged 11-17) with complex and challenging 

behaviours. The Young People have been referred through the 

courts because they are a risk to themselves or others, or because 

there is a concern about their involvement with criminal activities. 

A robust Restraint Minimisation Strategy has seen the 

implementation of a range of alternative approaches to minimise the 

use and impact of restraint. As a result the majority of injuries are 

graded at Level 1.  
 

There were a total of 531 incidents which required restraint during 

2017/18. This is a reduction of 198 incidents compared to last year. 

There were 108 injuries as a result of a restraint incident in 

2017/18. This is an increase of 33 injuries compared to the 

previous year. This is a ratio of 1 injury to every 5 restraints.   
 

Analysis shows an increased level of restraint and associated injury 

occurred in December and January. This was due to a high level of 

change in the makeup of the young people accommodated during 

that time and the opening of an additional unit. 

This created an unpredictability within peer 

groups with 36% of all injuries occurring in 

this period. From February 2018 the rate of 

intervention and injury has reduced to below 

the monthly average for the year. 
 

94% of injuries were graded at Level 1, with 

the remaining 6% at Level 2.  
 

There were no Level 3 restraint related injuries.   
 

Throughout 2017/18 a Senior Manager from the Secure Centre has 

provided a quarterly restraint report to the LSCB's Quality and 

Performance sub group and plans for further scrutiny of 

individual incidents are in place for 2018/19. 

 

  

Injuries as result of restraint are graded using a set criteria

• Level 1 – Minor Injury - such as red marks on the skin, 
welts, superficial cuts and scratches, bruises which do not 
require medical treatment, including first aid

• Level 2 – Minor Injury - such as significant cuts, 
scratches, grazes, bloody noses, concussion, serious 
bruising and sprains where medical treatment is given by 
staff/nurse 

• Level 3 – Serious Injury requiring hospital treatment -
includes serious cuts, fractures, loss of consciousness and 
damage to internal organs

 More Information: Find out more information about  
        Aycliffe Secure Services Centre 

 

County Durham is amongst a small number of Local Authorities 

who have secure services within its boundaries.  

 

P
age 50

http://www.durham.gov.uk/aycliffesecurecentre


 

21 
 

Serious Case Reviews 

Durham LSCB have instigated six Serious Case Reviews in 2017/18 

and published two Serious Case Reviews Overview Reports.        

We have delivered seven Learning Lessons events for practitioners; 

with two other specific information sharing events covering Multi-

Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA). 

 
Learning Lessons events provide 

time for professional and critical 

reflection of key messages of 

published Serious Case Reviews.  

This year we have developed new 

learning materials covering 

published Serious Case Reviews 

that allow managers and staff to 

deliver wider agency sharing of the learning within supervisions, 

team briefings and staff meetings. 

The LSCB continue to implement the recommendations from Serious 

Case Reviews. Action plans are monitored by the LSCB Business 

Unit and reviewed by the LSCB Board through the six-monthly 

update report. 

 

We will continue to host a range of themed learning conferences 

following Serious Case Reviews publication to contribute to the 

professional development of staff and improve their understanding of 

local safeguarding concerns and themes. 

 

The transitional arrangements that will occur in 2018/19 from the 

system of Serious Case Reviews to the new national and local 

review arrangements are described on Page 8 of this document. 

 

 

  

Recurrent themes of published SCRs

• Concealed or Denied Pregnancy

• Parental Substance Misuse

• Recognising and responding to Neglect and understanding 
its impact on Children and Young People

• The effectiveness of multi-agency Team Around the Family 
(TAF) arrangements and assessments 

• Recognising ‘Did not attend’ notifications as 'Was Not 
Brought to Appointments' issues 

• Blockages in Communication and Information Sharing

 More Information: Find out more information about 
        Serious Case Reviews 

 

P
age 51

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/serious-case-reviewchild-death-reviews/


 

22 
 

Policy and Procedures 

The online version of the Durham LSCB Multi-Agency Child 

Protection Procedures has been live since January 2017.  It provides 

a web based solution that is fully searchable and allows the user to 

access content from a wide range of devices.  

 

We undertake reoccurring six-monthly reviews to keep the 

procedures up-to-date with local and national changes.  

New sections added have included: 

 Dangerous Dogs and Safeguarding Children 

 Voice of the Child Good Practice Guidance 

 Modern Slavery 

 Surrogacy 

 Concealed / Denied Pregnancy 

 Child Sexual Abuse in the Family Environment 

 Managing Individuals who Pose a Risk to Children 

 

Website link - www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb 

 

Professionals should add the link above into work related phones, 

smartphones, tablets and computers to link directly to the procedures 

when needed. 

 
 

Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse 

We have engaged with the Independent Inquiry 

into Child Sexual Abuse to supplied information 

on the work we do to protect children.   

In addition we have actively promoted the   

Truth Project; this offers the opportunity for victims and survivors to 

share their experience and be respectfully heard and acknowledged.  

By doing so, they are helping the inquiry to better understand the 

long term impact of abuse. 
 

Learning Point 

Watch a two minute video about 

the Truth Project.  

Other procedures and guidence updated in 2017/18 

• New Tackling Neglect Strategy

• Updated Neglect Practice Guidance

• Updated Thresholds Document

• New Children's Services Referral Form

• Updated Home Environment Risk Assessment Tool 
(HEAT) and Guidance

• New HEAT Analysis and Action Plan 

• Updated Children and Families Outcomes Framework 
and Practice Toolkit

P
age 52

http://www.proceduresonline.com/durham/scb
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0t4VuTDpco0
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/multi-agency-child-protection-procedures/


 

23 
 

7. Training and Communication 
Durham LSCB offered 13 core courses in 2017/18 including Neglect, 

Engaging with Families; Safeguarding Processes and Child Sexual 

Exploitation.  This was supplemented with a considerable 

programme of specialist training which included Psychology and 

Behaviour of Sex Offenders; Risk, Harm and Decision Making; 

Sexually Harmful Behaviour and Interviewing Sex Offenders. 

 

 A total of 75 individual core 

courses were delivered in 2017/18. 

The courses were attended by a total 

of 1,265 staff.  

 A full total of 100 training and 

events were delivered and attended 

by a total of 4,113 staff. 
 

 

The training courses received very positive feedback with 96% of 

attendees marking the training as good or excellent.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

E-learning Courses 

Durham LSCB provide access to a full 

range of e-learning courses through the 

Virtual College ‘total package’.  

This allows partners the ability to offer   

up-to-date safeguarding training to all staff through the unlimited 

licences available for each course. Courses include: 

 Safeguarding 

Children and Young 

People from Abuse 

by Sexual 

Exploitation 

 Safeguarding 

Children Refresher  

 Awareness of Child 

Abuse and Neglect 

 Collaborative 

Working: A Whole 

Family Approach  

 

Since the new courses became available in April 2016:  

 10,069  courses have been completed  

 93% of those completing evaluations stated they would 

recommend the course to a friend or colleague  

  
 More Information: Find out more information about 
         LSCB Training Programme 

 

‘In a recent referral 

following this course, I now 

feel confident in asking 

challenging questions at 

home visits.’  

‘The importance of looking 

at the situation through the 

child's eyes. What it’s like 

for them living in those 

neglectful environments.’ 

‘This 

training day 

has helped 

me to 

understand 

the single 

assessment 

process and 

what a good 

assessment 

looks like.’ 

P
age 53

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/professionals/training-programme/


 

24 
 

Marketing and Communications Activity 

Marketing and communications work is delivered 

through the Durham LSCB Website and is the main 

channel to support local and national campaigns. 

Printed materials to raise awareness of 

safeguarding children were distributed to contact 

points such as Customer Access Points, GP 

surgeries, Libraries, Children Centres, Day Nurseries, 

Police Stations and the Neighbourhood Watch 

Network. 

 

The LSCB website is the main access point for safeguarding 

information and materials. Content is refreshed regularly with the 

Toolkits and Guidance for Practitioners page, Making a Referral 

page and Training Programme being the top three pages visited. 

 

 
This year we ran a full itinerary of 

events during National 

Safeguarding Week. Chris Harper, 

who played child groomer Nathan in 

Coronation Street was invited to 

Durham to speak about his storyline 

and the public reaction to his role.   

The events were organised by the LSCB and Harrogate & District 

NHS Foundation Trust Specialist Nurses in Child Protection who also 

provide the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme in County Durham. 

Learning Point 

Watch Chris speak about the 

storyline and how it has helped to 

raise the issue of child sexual 

exploitation across the country.  

Website stats - April 2017 to end of March 2018

• 20,015 users

• 41,742 sessions / visits

• 115,266 page views

Campaigns we supported in 2017/18 

• Children’s Commissioner’s Takeover Challenge

• Child Sexual Exploitation Awareness Day

• Independent Inquiry into Child Sexual Abuse Truth 
Project

• Internet Safety Day

• World Social Worker Day

• Alcohol Awareness Week

• International Day for Elimination of Violence Against 
Women and Girls

P
age 54

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Oz9zIbPLCKA


 

25 
 

8. Future Priorities 
The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board agreed the 

following priorities and priority actions for 2018/19:   

 

 

 

   

• Understand Neglect – See the local picture of neglect; raise awareness and thresholds for action

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Effective Provision – Refine effective and successful support that helps reduce neglect

• Family Focus – Use the experience of our families and the voice of the child in services

Neglect

• Thresholds – Strengthen agreed levels of action across the partnership 

• Focused Intervention – Making sure children receive focused intervention 

• Remove Barriers – Understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing – Remove the barriers to local sharing of information

Working 
Together

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a voice within the child protection process

• Empower Young People – To recognise abuse, feel confident to report concerns

• Visibility and Support – Obtain the child’s story and support is child focused

• Peer Support – Develop skills for young people to support other young people

Empowering 
Young People 

• Preventing CSE – Making it more difficult to exploit children and young people

• Protecting children and young people from CSE – Identifying and safeguarding those 
children and young people at risk

• Pursuing perpetrators of CSE – Identifying, arresting and prosecuting offenders

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

P
age 55



 

26 
 

Appendix 1 – LSCB Membership 
 

Durham LSCB Membership 

 The Board is chaired by an independent person 

commissioned by the Durham County Council Chief Executive 

 National Probation Services – represented by the Head of 

Durham NPS  

 Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company 

– represented by the Head of Services County Durham and 

Darlington 

 North Durham, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 

Clinical Commissioning Groups – represented by the 

Director of Nursing (Vice-Chair of Durham LSCB) 

 Designated Nurse Safeguarding Children and Looked 

After Children  

 Designated Doctor for Safeguarding Children 

 NHS England – represented by the Director of Nursing for the 

Clinical Commissioning Groups 

 Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Nursing 

(Safeguarding) 

 County Durham & Darlington NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Patient Experience & 

Safeguarding 

 North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 

– represented by the General Manager Nursing and 

Professional Standards 

 Harrogate & District NHS Foundation Trust – represented 

by the Head of Safeguarding Children 

 City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust – 

represented by the Associate Director of Safeguarding 

 Cafcass (County Durham) – represented by the Service 

Manager 

 County Durham Council represented by: 

- Corporate Director, Children and Young People’s Services 

- Head of Early Help, Assessment & Safeguarding     

- Head of Adult Care 

- Head of Education    

- Strategic Manager – Children’s Services Reform & Youth 

Offending Service 

- Director of Public Health County Durham 

- Strategic Manager – Housing Solutions 

 National Offender Management Service – represented by 

the Regional Safer Custody Lead 

 Durham Constabulary – represented by the Force Lead for 

Safeguarding (Superintendent Level)  

 The Voluntary & Community Sector – represented by the 

Voluntary Sector Representative (Durham Voice) 

P
age 56



 

27 
 

 Schools – represented by:  

- Durham Association of Secondary Heads 

- Durham Association of Primary Heads 

- Durham Association of Special Schools  

 Further Education – represented by: 

- Head of Student Services, Bishop Auckland College 

- Advice Support Careers Manager, New College Durham 

 Lay Members – represented by three members of the 

community whose remit is to challenge the LSCB on the 

accessibility by the public, children and young people of its 

plans and procedures  

 Lead Member – represented by the Portfolio Holder for 

Children and Young People’s Services (participant observer) 

 Faith Communities – represented by the Safeguarding Lead 

for Durham Diocese  

 

LSCB Advisors  

The Board is advised by: 

 A member of Durham County Council Corporate & Legal 

Services nominated as the Board’s legal advisor  

 The Durham LSCB Business Manager 

 Head of Partnerships & Engagement, Durham County Council 

 Strategic Manager – Partnerships, Durham County Council 

Contact Details 

Durham LSCB     03000 265 770  

Durham County Council   03000 260 000   

Durham Constabulary    101   

County Durham & Darlington  

NHS Foundation Trust    0191 333 2333  

North Durham Clinical  

Commissioning Group (CCG)   0191 389 8600  

Durham Dales, Easington &  

Sedgefield CCG    0191 371 3222 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys  

NHS Foundation Trust    01325 552 000  

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals  

NHS Foundation Trust    01642 617 617  

Harrogate & District NHS  

Foundation Trust     01423 885 959  

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS  

Foundation Trust     0191 565 6256 

 NHS England North   0113 825 1609 

Cafcass (County Durham)    0300 456 4000  

Durham Tees Valley Community  

Rehabilitation Company     0808 168 4848 

National Probation Service 

North East Division    01325 246 260 

National Offender Management  

Service      0300 047 6325 

Schools and Colleges   web link only 

Voluntary and Community Sector  web link only 

  P
age 57

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


 

28 
 

Appendix 2 – LSCB Staffing and Budget 
 

Staffing 

The LSCB is supported by the following officers: 

 LSCB Business Manager 

 LSCB Quality & Performance Coordinator 

 LSCB Strategy and Development Officer  

 LSCB Training Coordinator  

 LSCB Admin Coordinator  

 LSCB Administrator 

 LSCB Admin Apprentice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Budget 

The financial contributions from partner agencies are as follows: 

 

Partner 2017/18 
Contribution 

2018/19 
Contribution 

Durham County Council £171,604 £171,604 

Clinical Commissioning Groups £95,097 £95,097 

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

County Durham & Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Harrogate and District NHS 
Foundation Trust 

£2,680 £2,680 

Durham Constabulary £29,285 £29,285 

Durham Tees Valley Community 
Rehabilitation Company  

£1,340 £1,340 

National Probation Service £2,032 £2,032 

Further Education Colleges £2,100 £2,100 

Cafcass £550 £550 

Total £312,728 £312,728 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 58



 

29 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LSCB Business Unit 

County Hall 

Durham 

County Durham 

DH1 5UJ  

Email: lscb@durham.gov.uk 

Tel: 03000 265 770 

 

A copy of this report is available on www.durham-lscb.org.uk 

Durham LSCB Annual Report 2017 / 2018 - Safeguarding Children in County Durham  

Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board has a statutory duty to prepare and publish an Annual Report which describes how our partners 

safeguard vulnerable children and young people in County Durham.  Our primary responsibility is to provide a way for the local organisations 

that have a responsibility in respect of child welfare, to agree how they will work together to safeguard and promote the welfare of children and 

young people in County Durham and to ensure that they do so effectively. 

 

The children and young people of County Durham are at the heart of what all LSCB partners do and our vision of ‘Every child and young 

person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm’ continues to drive services forward.  

 

This Annual Report gives an account of the Board’s work over the past year to improve the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.  

The report reflects the activity of the LSCB and its sub groups against its priorities for 2017/18.  It covers the major changes and improvements 

of our partners’ service delivery, where they link with the Board’s overall strategies and the impact it has had.  It also reports on the Serious 

Case Reviews undertaken and identifies the priorities to be taken forward into 2018/19. 

 

 

Equality and Diversity  

Durham LSCB strives to promote equal access to safeguarding services, particularly 

for those children who are unable to communicate, due to their age, disability or first language.  

 

P
age 59

mailto:lscb@durham.gov.uk
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Safeguarding Children 

and Young People 

in County Durham

Annual Update for Young People 

2018

P
age 61



Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Safeguarding Overview

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is safeguarding?

Safeguarding is about keeping 

children and young people safe 

and protecting them from 

harm, while making sure they 

grow up in a safe environment.

What does the LSCB do?

We promote the welfare of 

children and young people, 

safeguarding them from harm 

and protecting those children 

who are at significant risk of 

harm or neglect.

What does it mean for me?

Agencies including the Councils’ 

Children and Young People’s 

Services, the Police, Schools and 

Colleges and Health Services 

such as GPs, Hospitals and 

Health Visitors are all here to 

help.

Our Vision: Every child and young person in County Durham feels safe and grows up safe from harm

2

P
age 62

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Some Facts and Figures about Safeguarding

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

3

Themes we have seen in the 

reviews we have undertaken are: 

• Concealed Pregnancy

• Parents Drug and Alcohol 

misuse

• Neglect

• Children not brought to 

Appointments

Serious Case Reviews
• Online Grooming is the 

most common model

• Of those young people 

targeted 80% are girls

• 177 referrals were 

made for children at risk 

Child Sexual Exploitation

Child Protection Neglect

Domestic Abuse is 

the main parental risk 

factor leading to 

children becoming 

subject of a Child 

Protection Plan

• 498 Children in County 

Durham are subject to a        

Child Protection Plan

• 71% of Children who were made 

subject to a child protection plan 

under five years old were made 

so due to neglect

P
age 63

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Safeguarding Priorities

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Reducing 

Child Sexual 

Exploitation 

Working 

Together

Reducing 

Neglect

Empowering 

Young 

People

The Durham Local Safeguarding Children Board agreed the following priorities for 2017/18

4

Click on the tabs below for more information 

P
age 64

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Child Sexual Exploitation?

• Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE) is a form 

of child abuse

• It can happen to anyone who is 

persuaded, bullied or forced into 

having sex or sexual activity such as 

taking and sharing naked photos of 

themselves

• This can be in return for things like 

alcohol, money, drugs or other gifts

• It can happen online and face to face

• It ruins lives and has serious long-term 

effects on young people and their 

families

5

The film Jigsaw is a story about a young girl called Becky 
who likes to use online social media to shares information 
and photos of herself and her friends. Becky has been 
talking to somebody who she believes to be another child. 
It turns out to be a man who has lied to her.

Get Help

There are people who know how to help children 
and young people in this situation. 

They will believe you. There is a way out.

Ring the Police 101 

If you are not ready to report something you 
can speak to Childline 0800 1111

P
age 65

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=_o8auwnJtqE


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Child Sexual Exploitation (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Child Sexual Exploitation mean for me?

In school sessions young people told us that these were some of the things that people use to 

manipulate a young person in to sexual activity 

6

Listen to our ERASE Support Workers talk about 
the risk factors of Child Sexual Exploitation.

Watch Chris Harper, who played Nathan in Coronation Street speak about 
how his storyline has helped to raise the issue of child sexual exploitation.

P
age 66

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/children-young-people/what-is-child-sexual-exploitation/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xLlJlmCgRlc
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dfvFzOGwESM
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Oz9zIbPLCKA


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Working Together

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Working Together?

• The aim is to achieve excellent 

partnership working across all 

areas of LSCB Business

• Drilling down into problems and 

finding solutions that work for 

every agency

• Changing agency culture to 

improve multi-agency practice

7

Get Help

Services can work with everyone in the family 
helping them to find solutions to their problems.  

We focus on the following

• Prevention – So that 

problems do not 

happen in the first place 

• Targeted Intervention 

– So that problems are 

sorted out at an early 

stage

• Improve Support –

So that help and 

support from a trained 

professional is in place 

for problems that are 

serious or may continue 

for a long time

We have been working to implement 

learning from Serious Case Reviews.  

This two minute video asks workers 

re-think ‘did not attend’ notifications.
(Shared with permissions of Nottinghamshire LSCB)

P
age 67

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
https://vimeo.com/196256529
https://vimeo.com/196256529


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Reducing Neglect

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What is Neglect?

• Child neglect is a failure to 

look after a child and could 

result in poor health or 

development

• Children (including unborn 

babies), need food, water, 

shelter, warmth, protection 

and health care to grow and 

develop

• Children need their parents 

or carers to love and care 

for them

• Neglect can also include 

physical abuse, emotional 

abuse and sexual abuse

8

Get Help

Every child and young person has the right to be 
looked after properly. If you’re not getting the 

important things you need at home, you could be 
being neglected.  

If you are not ready to report something you can 
speak to Childline 0800 1111

Watch the video to see what happens when you 
contact Childline

P
age 68

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ
https://youtu.be/rARrprkysqQ


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Reducing Neglect (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

What does Neglect mean for me?

9

Neglect Video: 
Michelle's Story

Thank you for everything you have done 

for me, you have helped me so much. Yes 

I know it's your job but you have changed 

my life.

You have watch me grow from a little girl 

into a stroppy teenager, I like myself a lot 

more now. I still write in my diary how my 

day has been. 

We have had many ups and downs

where I may have disagreed with you but 

in the end I know it's because you 

wanted what was best for me. 

I will never forget you.

Get Help

This is the story of Michelle and 

her experience of neglect as she 

was growing up.

Click the picture to watch the 

video

Domestic Abuse is the 

main parental risk factor 
leading to children 

becoming subject of a 

Child Protection Plan

Harbour

support

children,  

click on 

the 

leaflet

for

more 

info    

P
age 69

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8
https://youtu.be/0X8gsyk0Dv8
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Empowering Young People

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

10

How you continue to help

The LSCB meet 

young people 

in their local 

areas to learn 

more about 

what is 

important to 

them. 

What is Empowering Young People?

• To increase the voice of the child to make 

sure that services take young people's 

views and opinions into account when 

they plan services

• Providing education, resilience and 'up-

skilling' opportunities for young people in 

safeguarding and risk awareness

• Staff working with children and young 

people want to know what they think and 

how things can be made better for them

Bullying, and online safety 

are one of your concerns.  

Click on ‘Get Safe Online’ to 

learn more

‘This direct link to young 

people and understanding the 

‘Voice of the Child’ has brought 

a positive and different 

perspective into the LSCB’.  
Jane Geraghty, Independent Chair receiving the 

Investing in Children award

P
age 70

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/
http://investinginchildren.weebly.com/
http://www.getsafeonline.org/durham/


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Priority: Empowering Young People (continued)

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

How you made a difference to workers?

Durham LSCB promotes the 

hashtag #hearmyvoice as a 

simple way for young people 

to express their views on social 

media

11

#hearmyvoice

Over 70 Durham 

Police Cadets 

have helped us 

develop your 

Annual Update.

Working hard!

Listen to Amy-Louise shares her 
story about being bullied online. 

‘Both as a 
professional 
and a parent, 
their stories 
provided a 
thought 
provoking 
human element 
of their 
experiences and 
for that I feel 
very privileged’.

P
age 71

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw
http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IvELtgxcXsw


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Our plans for the future

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

Our plans for 2018 and 2019

12

• Understand Neglect – See the local picture of neglect; raise awareness and thresholds for action

• Early Identification – Improve the recognition and assessment of neglect 

• Effective Provision – Refine effective and successful support that helps reduce neglect

• Family Focus – Use the experience of our families and the voice of the child in services

Neglect

• Thresholds – Strengthen agreed levels of action across the partnership 

• Focused Intervention – Making sure children receive focused intervention

• Remove Barriers – Understanding the lessons learned and improving outcomes

• Improve Information Sharing – Remove the barriers to local sharing of information

Working 
Together

• Voice of the Child – Every child has a voice within the child protection process

• Empower Young People – To recognise abuse, feel confident to report concerns

• Visibility and Support – Obtain the child’s story and support is child focused

• Peer Support – Develop skills for young people to support other young people

Empowering 
Young People 

• Preventing CSE – Making it more difficult to exploit children and young people

• Protecting children and young people from CSE – Identifying and safeguarding 

those children and young people at risk

• Pursuing perpetrators of CSE – Identifying, arresting and prosecuting offenders

Child Sexual 
Exploitation

P
age 72

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/


Annual Report for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Reporting Concerns

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

For more information, click on the images to 

go to various websites and contacts

13

P
age 73

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.myharbour.org.uk/
http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/onepoint
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/site/content/Care-&-Treatment/Children-and-Young-Peopl/Community-mental-health
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/
http://www.getsafeonline.org/durham/
https://www.ifucareshare.co.uk/
https://www.papyrus-uk.org/
http://www.eraseabuse.org/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/firstcontact
http://www.disc-vol.org.uk/services/drugs-alcohol-recovery-services/
http://www.countydurhamfamilies.info/kb5/durham/fsd/localoffer.page


Annual Update for Young People

www.durham-lscb.org.uk
Contact details for LSCB Partners

Safeguarding Overview LSCB Priorities Reporting Concerns

LSCB Business Unit 
County Hall, Durham

County Durham, DH1 5UJ 
Email: lscb@durham.gov.uk

Tel: 03000 265 770
www.durham-lscb.org.uk

Durham LSCB 03000 265 770 

Durham County Council 03000 260 000  

Durham Constabulary 101 

County Durham & Darlington 

NHS Foundation Trust 0191 333 2333 

North Durham Clinical 

Commissioning Group (CCG) 0191 389 8600 

Durham Dales, Easington & 

Sedgefield CCG 0191 371 3222

Tees, Esk & Wear Valleys 

NHS Foundation Trust 01325 552 000 

North Tees & Hartlepool Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust 01642 617 617 

Harrogate & District NHS 

Foundation Trust 01423 885 959 

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 

Foundation Trust 0191 565 6256

NHS England North 0113 825 1609

Cafcass (County Durham) 0300 456 4000 

Durham Tees Valley Community 

Rehabilitation Company (probation) 0808 168 4848

National Probation Service

North East Division 01325 246 260

National Offender Management 

Service 0300 047 6325

Schools and Colleges web link only

Voluntary and Community Sector web link only

P
age 74

http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham-lscb.org.uk/
http://www.durham.gov.uk/
http://www.durham.police.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.cddft.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.northdurhamccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.durhamdaleseasingtonsedgefieldccg.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.tewv.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.nth.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.hdft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
http://www.chsft.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/north/
http://www.cafcass.gov.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
http://dtvcrc.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service/about
http://www.durham.gov.uk/schools
http://www.durham.gov.uk/article/2759/Voluntary-and-community-sector


1

Children and Young People’s
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26 September 2018

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report
Annual Report 2017-2018

Report of Margaret Whellans, Corporate Director of Children and 
Young People’s Services 

Purpose of Report

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual 
Report April 2017 – March 2018.  The Annual Report is attached as Appendix 
2 of this report.

Background

2 In March 2016, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were inspected 
by OFSTED who found that services required improvement. Their report 
made fourteen recommendations including: “Review existing arrangements to 
ensure that political and senior leaders have access to improved quantitative 
and qualitative performance information that enables them to have an 
accurate picture of the current practice delivered to children, so that they can 
develop strategies to maintain and improve the quality of front line practice.” 

3 Following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection report an Ofsted 
Improvement Plan was developed and was grouped into four themes, 
including The Strengthening Political and Management Oversight theme.

4 Benchmarking was undertaken, and as a result changes were made to 
political oversight arrangements, including the functions, membership, 
governance and administration of the Corporate Parenting Panel.  

5 Work has also been undertaken to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting 
Panel’s work.

6 Further work has been done following the approval of changes to the 
constitution, and terms of reference for the Corporate Parenting Panel were 
agreed, which incorporates all aspects of the constitutional changes.

7 The terms of reference include the functions described in the Constitution with 
the responsibilities of the Corporate Parenting Panel in relation to each of the 
functions clearly set out.

Page 75

Agenda Item 9



8 The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate Parenting 
Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be shared with 
Cabinet and Scrutiny.  

Development of the Annual Report

9 To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the Children in Care 
Council, supported by officers from Transformation and Partnerships, would 
develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual Report for 2017-18.

10 The young people have worked on the design, layout, content and language 
of the Annual Report to ensure it is easy to read and understand.

11 The Annual Report includes information on:

(a) What a Corporate Parent is

(b) The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

(c) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference

(d) The Durham County Council ‘Promise’ to Looked After Children

(e) Key performance data

(f) Engagement mechanisms

(g) You Said – We Did, evidencing the changes made as a result of 
consultation with young people

(h) The Corporate Parenting Panel’s areas of work for the future

Terms of Reference

The five functions of the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference, 
which were agreed by the Panel at the meeting on 30th June 2017 are as 
follows:

(a) Ensure that the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and 
young people in care and care leavers including:

(i) Young people in residential care
(ii) Children and Young People in foster care
(iii) Children placed for adoption
(iv) Children placed at home under Placement with Parents 

Regulations
(v) Young people who are living in supported lodgings
(vi) Young people in Secure Services
(vii) Young people in custody.

(b) To engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their 
carers for whom the Council is the parent.

Page 76



(c) To work in partnership with other statutory agencies to drive forward 
improvements in care.

(d) To act as the governing body for the Virtual School for looked after 
children and young people.  

(e) To act as the governing body for Aycliffe secure services, monitoring 
and ensuring the quality of secure accommodation.

Key Successes 2017/18 

12 (a) A care leavers event was organised in Durham earlier in the year, 
inviting care leavers to have a say on the things they wanted improved.  
One proposal, which it is pleasing to report is now in place, is that care 
leavers no longer have to pay council tax.

(b) Over the past year the CICC website has grown and developed with 
the help of young people.  A page has recently been created to inform 
young people about their corporate parents and how to contact them.  
This suggestion was made by young people wanting to know who their 
Local Councillor/Corporate Parent is in their area and the Corporate 
Parenting wanting to create better links and relationships with looked 
after children and young people.  The website is very well used and, on 
average, has over a thousand hits a month.

(c) Regular meetings have taken place with the Chief Executive of Durham 
County Council, staff at the Council and the Children in Care Council.  
The main aim of the meetings was to look into the Council creating 
more opportunities for care leavers within ‘The Family Business – The 
Council’.  The Council now offer a number of apprenticeship vacancies 
targeted at care leavers.

Priorities 2018/19

13 (a) To improve the experience of children and young people when coming 
into care.

(b) To create more ‘job opportunities for care leavers within the Council

(c) To increase the number of new DCC Foster Carers and dispel any 
myths around foster care.

Recommendation

14 Overview and Scrutiny Committee is requested to: 

(a) Note contents of report.

Contact:    Helen Fergusson, Head of Children’s Social Care  
Tel: 03000 268657

Page 77



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – There are no finance implications.  The Corporate Parenting Panel 
Annual Report will primarily be shared by email, and will be hosted on the Children in 
Care Council, Investing in Children and Durham County Council websites to 
minimise printing and distribution costs.

Staffing - There are no staffing implications.

Risk – There are no risk implications.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Looked After Services are 
available to all children and young people in line with legal duties. 

Accommodation - There are no accommodation implications.

Crime and Disorder – There are no crime and disorder implications.

Human Rights – Children and young people have been central to the development 
of the Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard. 

Consultation – Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved 
in the development of the Annual Report.  

Procurement - There are no procurement implications.

Disability Issues – There are no disability implications.

Legal Implications – The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form 
part of Durham County Council’s Constitution.

Page 78



Appendix 2:  Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2017-18

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2017-18 is attached as a separate 
document.

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83



Page 84



Page 85



Page 86



Page 87



Page 88



Page 89



Page 90



Page 91



Page 92



Children and Young People 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

26 September 2018 
 

Quarter One 2018/19 
Performance Management Report  
 

 

 
 

Report of Corporate Management Team 
Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and Partnerships 
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader of the Council 

Purpose of the Report 

1 To present progress towards achieving the key outcomes of the council’s 

corporate performance framework for the Altogether Better for Children and 

Young People priority theme for the first quarter of the 2018/19 financial year.   

Summary 

2 We continue to progress service improvements in children’s services following 

the last major Ofsted inspection in 2016. Senior management focus remains on 

reducing caseloads for our social workers and improving quality and 

consistency of their work. A joint thematic area inspection of children living with 

domestic abuse was carried out in July as a check on progress ahead of the 

next major inspection, and the final inspection letter was published on 24 

August, which identifies strengths and areas for improvement. There is a 

performance challenge around the number of our young people who are being 

educated in schools that are inadequate or require improvement. Figures are 

stable for the number of children in need, children on a child protection plan 

and looked after children. However, the volume of single assessments has 

increased by 14%, which is affecting the proportion that we have processed 

within 45 days. Work is ongoing on rolling out a pilot to correct this issue. Too 

many social workers have caseloads in excess of best practice guidelines with 

the majority (54.5%) carrying a caseload of more than 20. The emotional health 

and wellbeing of our looked after children is low compared to regional, national 

and most similar authorities comparators.  

Performance Reporting Arrangements for 2018/19 

3 Our performance management framework provides us with a valuable insight 

into the extent to which we are achieving our objectives and how effectively the 

council and its partners are meeting the needs of our residents. It enables us to 

regularly assess, report on and scrutinise performance to support the 

continuous improvement of our services. 

Page 93

Agenda Item 10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/735980/Durham_joint_targeted_area_inspection_report_230818.pdf


4 It brings together key planning, monitoring and evaluation processes through 

an integrated suite of documents, including the Sustainable Community 

Strategy, Council Plan, Service Plans and the Medium Term Financial Plan, 

and demonstrates the contribution made at various levels of the organisation to 

our priority themes. 

Overview of performance  

5 Altogether better for children and young people is one of six priority themes that 

forms the basis of our performance management framework. This report sets 

out the key messages relating to this priority theme structured around the 

following four areas of focus: 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of Early Help services 

appropriately supported? 

 Are children, young people and families in receipt of Social Work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

 Are we being a good corporate parent for Looked After Children? 

6 42 indicators support this priority theme. Since the last report, there have been 

three changes to the indicator set, two have been deleted and replaced with 

new indicators and one has been deleted as set out in Appendix 3. 

7 A comprehensive table of all performance data is attached as Appendix 2. 

8 Since the Ofsted inspection in spring 2016, children and young people’s 

services have made good progress in many areas but more remains to be 

done. There are emerging strengths in the council’s approach to early help, our 

support for children in care and political and senior management oversight of 

our practice. Leadership focus is on accelerating improvements in the quality 

and consistency of our casework, continuing to reduce caseloads by ensuring 

fully staffed and skilled social work teams, and driving Durham’s new culture 

and associated behaviours across the whole children and young people’s 

workforce within the council and partner services. 

9 From January 2018, a new universal inspection framework was introduced by 

Ofsted. The ILACS (Inspection of Local Authority Children’s Services) focuses 

on the council’s functions regarding the help, care and protection of children 

and young people. A 12-month plan to improve the quality of social work 

practice in Durham has been developed as the service prepare for inspection 

under the ILACS framework. 

10 In July 2018, the council and its partners received a joint targeted area 

inspection (JTAI). The JTAI examined how well agencies are working together 

Page 94



to help and protect children. The theme of the JTAI was a “deep-dive” focus on 

children’s experiences of living with domestic abuse and how they are helped 

and supported by all agencies. The inspection team also looked more generally 

at decision making at the point of referral and assessment; the quality of our 

children in need and child protection plans and the support we provide in the 

context of multi-agency working. The inspection outcome letter to all the service 

leaders in the area outlines findings about the effectiveness of partnership 

working and of the work of individual agencies. Next steps are that the 

Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services has until 3 

December to prepare a written statement of proposed action, responding to the 

findings outlined in the letter. This will be a multi-agency response involving 

probation services, clinical commissioning groups and health providers in 

Durham and Durham Constabulary.  

 

 

Page 95

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/735980/Durham_joint_targeted_area_inspection_report_230818.pdf


ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported?      

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help services appropriately supported?  

School judged good/outstanding 

 

Primary Secondary Special PRU 

91% 

[196] 

61% 

[19] 

50% 

[5] 

100% 

[1] 

12 secondary schools are inadequate or 

require improvement. Seven are LA 

maintained and five are academies. 

Nationally, 76% of secondary schools are 

good or outstanding. 
 

Education, Health & Care Plans for Children with SEND 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Significant improvement has been made to the proportion of 

new EHCPs issue within the 20 week timescale. Our 

performance compares favourably with others.  

Pupils claiming free school meals 

 

 

 

 

2017 2018 

12,959 of 64,116 pupils were known 

to be eligible for and claiming FSM. 

12,772 of 65,804 pupils were known 

to be eligible for and claiming FSM. 

10,751 of the 12,959 pupils took their 

free meal on census day, this is an 

83.0% take up. 

10,180 of the 12,772 pupils took their 

free meal on census day, this is a 

79.7% take up. 

 

 

Universal Services  

 Reduction under 18s alcohol related hospital admissions, 
more prevalent in females. 

 Reduction under 18s hospital admissions for self-harm, lower 
than regional/national averages. 

 Teenage pregnancies (under 16 and under 18) has fallen. 
Pregnancies for under 18s is below regional levels. 

 % of 5 year olds free from dental decay, improved but 
significantly worse than England and North East. 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board agreed to next stage testing of 
feasibility of expanding community water fluoridation 
scheme for County Durham. 

  

The County Durham Oral Health Strategy action plan is 
progressing, with nurseries in top 30% of deprived 
communities to implement tooth brushing schemes. 

 

P
age 96



Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal 

services appropriately supported? 

11 Nine of the 18 indicators that support this area relate to the academic year so 

provisional data will be available and reported at quarter two, with the final data 

available and reported at quarter three. 

12 Pupils claiming free school meals; and five year olds free from dental decay are 

below national and regional averages and the following indicators are all below 

national average, average attainment 8 score, average attainment 8 score gap, 

under 18 conception rate, alcohol specific hospital admissions for under 18s 

and children obese or overweight (4-5 years).  

13 There has been a slight decrease in the proportion of children and young 

people in County Durham claiming Free School Meals (FSM) – our local 

indicator of child poverty. In January 2018, 19.4% of pupils were eligible for and 

claiming FSM in County Durham. This is 12,772 pupils. This is slight a 

decrease from 20.2% (12,959 pupils) in January 2017. Work is currently 

ongoing through the County Durham Child Poverty Group to determine the 

possible impact of the roll-out of Universal Credit on FSM eligibility in the 

county. 

14 Good progress continues with the timeliness of Education Health and Care 

Plans (EHCPs) for children with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND). All former special educational needs statements have been 

transferred to EHCPs. In the first 6 months of 2018, 94% of EHCPs were 

issued within the 20 week timescale; an increase from 79% in 2017 and higher 

than in England (65%) and North East (79%). 

15 The inspection ratings of County Durham’s secondary schools remains a cause 

for concern. No further inspection reports have been published since last 

quarter, so 12 secondary schools remain rated as either ‘Requires 

Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’; this equates to 39%. Nationally, this is 20%. 

16 Latest published data identifies 75% of secondary school pupils in County 

Durham are in good or outstanding schools following their latest inspection, 

compared to 82% in England and 67% in the North East.  

17 Secondary schools are now judged on the new progress 8 accountability 

measure in addition to the Ofsted inspection framework. Schools with a 

progress 8 score that is average or below average are being invariably classed 

as ‘Requires Improvement’ or ‘Inadequate’ in their inspection outcome. 

Durham’s performance in relation to progress 8 in 2017 is therefore impacting 

Page 97



upon recent inspection outcomes. The council is co-ordinating joint projects to 

address key issues and sharing best practice regionally.  

18 Year 6 pupils recently received their Key Stage 2 results. Nationally, 64% of 

pupils met the expected standard in reading, writing and mathematics in 2018. 

The figures were 61% nationally and 65% in County Durham in 2017. Collation 

and analysis of Durham’s 2018 results is ongoing and will feature in the report 

for quarter two. Data for the April to June 2018 period indicates that 5.1% of 16 

and 17 year olds in County Durham were not in education, employment or 

training (NEET). This is an average of 408 young people over the three month 

period. This is slightly higher than the equivalent three month period last year 

(4.8%) and is also higher than the national (2.9%) and North East (4.6%) 

averages for the equivalent time period. However, the percentage of 16 to 18 

year olds whose status is 'Not Known' was 1.6% (169 young people) at 30 June 

2018. This is lower than that nationally (3.1%) and regionally (2.1%) for the 

equivalent time period. 

19 Admission episodes for alcohol specific conditions for under 18s (rate per 

100,000) is 56.2 (169 admissions) which has reduced from the previous 

reporting period and is below the North East average. It does however remain 

above the national average, but the gap has closed. Young females are more 

likely than males to be admitted to hospital for alcohol-specific conditions (rate 

of 63.4 compared to 49.3). 

20 The rate of young people aged 10-24 admitted to hospital as a result of self-

harm (per 100,000) is 400.8 which has reduced from 2015/16 and is below both 

national and regional averages. This equates to 377 admissions in 2016/17, 

compared to a peak of 523 in 2011/12. 

21 Both under 18 and under 16 conceptions continue to decrease, following a 

sustained downward trend in teenage conceptions. Latest data (Apr 16-Mar 17) 

show that the number of under 18 conceptions has reduced from 499 in 1998 

(when recording began) to 168 conceptions. The rate (21.3) remains higher 

than the national average (18.5) but lower than the regional average (24.8). For 

2016, the under 16 conception rate is 5.4, which is higher than both national 

(3.0) and North East (4.9) averages. The Teenage Pregnancy Steering Group 

is currently undertaking a self-review against the Public Health England (PHE) 

teenage pregnancy prevention framework to identify what is working well, 

recognise any gaps and maximise the assets of all services to strengthen the 

prevention pathway for all young people. The findings of the self-assessment 

will help develop the new Teenage Pregnancy action plan moving forward. 

22 The proportion of five year old children free from dental decay is 74.2% 

(2016/17), which is significantly worse than both England (76.7%) and North 

Page 98



East (76.1%) averages. County Durham is ranked 9th out of the 12 regional 

local authorities (with 12 being the poorest ranking). 

23 The County Durham Oral Health Strategy 2016-19 sets the ambition to reduce 

oral health inequalities using the most up to date evidence based interventions. 

The action plan underpinning the strategy is making good progress, with 

nurseries in the top 30% most deprived communities to implement tooth 

brushing schemes. The Health and Wellbeing Board have also agreed to the 

next stage of testing the feasibility of expanding the community water 

fluoridation scheme for County Durham. 

Are children, young people and families in receipt of early help 

services appropriately supported? 

24 Of the two indicators that support this area, one has failed to meet the agreed 

target, the percentage of successful interventions via the Stronger Families 

Programme is lower than target, although performance has improved since last 

reported.  

25 As at 2 July 2018, there were 2,350 children supported by the council’s One 

Point Service, offering a variety of free advice and support and a range of 

activities for children, young people and families alongside partner agencies. 

26 Consistently good performance in relation to County Durham’s Family Centres 

continues with 91% of under 4s in the top 30% most deprived areas in the 

county registered with a Family Centre (13,433 children). Almost nine in 10 

under 2s in these areas receive sustained contact i.e. four contacts or more in a 

12 month period (7,363 children). 

27 Following the successful delivery of the Troubled Families programme (known 

as Stronger Families) within County Durham, the Ministry for Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) awarded Durham ‘Earned 

Autonomy’ (EA), one of 14 local authorities nationally. This results in all 

claimable Troubled Families grant being paid to the council without the need for 

Payment by Results (PbR) returns. The One Point service has been redesigned 

based on the key principles of the Troubled Families programme including; 

 a whole family approach; 

 a key worker co-ordinating support for the family; 

 an assertive and persistent approach; 

 development of a single multi-agency, outcome-focussed family plan;  

 practical ‘hands on’ support. 

28 An update on performance will be reported at quarter 2. 

Page 99



The CYPS casefile audit programme 
was suspended in Q1 while the 
restructure was progressing 
 
Look out for a revised “Collaborative 
Evaluations” review tool being 
introduced in Q2 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of social services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

 
 

 

 

Social Work Practice 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

         Small 
improvement in the % 
of social workers 
managing under 20 
cases. 

        …but still the 
majority of social 
workers have 
caseloads in excess 
of best practice 
guidelines. 

17.9%

17%

The level of CiN referrals 
occurring within 12 months of 
a previous referral has not 
changed. 

85.5% 88.1%

Target 75% 

Statutory referrals processed 
within one working day continue 
to perform to target. 

          The % single  
            assessments 
completed within 45 
working days has 
deteriorated to 75.7%, 
lower than national 
and regional. 

P
age 100



Are children, young people and families in receipt of social work 

services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

29 Of the nine indicators that support this area; single assessments completed 

within 45 working days has deteriorated since last year and is below national 

and regional averages. Strategy meetings initiated which led to child protection 

conference within 15 working days missed target and was below national and 

regional averages.  

30 As at 2 July 2018, there were 3,478 children’s cases open with statutory social 

work teams. This includes 471 children on a child protection plan and 807 

looked after children. 

31 Consistently good performance continues in relation to the percentage of 

statutory social care referrals received by the First Contact or Emergency Duty 

Teams which are processed within the one working day timescale. Between 

April and June 2018, 88% of statutory referrals (1,120 of 1,271) were 

processed in timescale. Almost 9,000 enquiries were received by First Contact 

and the Emergency Duty Team in the three month period. Not all enquiries 

require a statutory referral and may, for example, require the team to refer to 

early help services or offer advice and guidance. 

32 Re-referrals into statutory social care services within 12 months have increased 

slightly to 17.9% (Apr-Jun 2018), however remain below latest levels in 

England (21.9%), the North East (20.1%) and statistical neighbours (20.7%) for 

2016/17. This suggests the services we put in place from the first referral are 

helping to keep children safe from risk or significant harm. Due to the slight 

increase, we will continue to closely monitor our re-referral rate.  

33 There are several areas that remain a continued focus for improvement  in 

children’s social care: 

a. Social work caseload pressures; 

b. Timeliness of assessment; 

c. Timeliness of initial child protection conferences. 

34 Almost half of social work staff (45%) are carrying a caseload of less than 20. 

An additional 26% have a caseload of between 20-24 cases. There are 9% (14 

social workers) who have a caseload of 30 or over. The service’s aim remains 

to have all social workers carrying a caseload of less than 20. This will also 

impact upon other areas of social care performance. 

35 Between April and June 2018, 75.7% of statutory single assessments were 

completed within 45 working days (892 of 1,179). This is lower than the 83% 

outturn in England and North East in 2016/17. On average, the 1,179 

Page 101



assessments in quarter one were completed within 41 days. This means that 

some children, young people and their families are waiting too long for the 

outcomes of our assessments. 

36 The recent restructure and subsequent movement of some cases have 

impacted upon timeliness, in addition to demand pressures in some teams. A 

pilot to complete the least complex assessments within 25 days was 

undertaken within several Families First Teams during the quarter, which has 

recently been rolled out to all Families First Teams. It is envisaged that this 

rollout and completion of the restructure will lead to improvements in 

performance.  

37 Data for the first quarter of 2018/19 shows that 72.5% of strategy meetings 

initiated led to an initial child protection conference (ICPC) being held within the 

15 working day timescale (137 of 189 ICPCs). This is below target (75%) and 

latest 2016/17 comparator averages (national 77%, regional 86% and statistical 

neighbours 83%). The main issues for ICPCs going out of timescale were 

delays in requesting meetings were set up, invites being sent and incomplete 

reports. This continues to be monitored closely by senior managers in 

Children’s Social Care and the Independent Reviewing Officer (IRO) Service 

and agreed escalation procedures are in place. 

 

Page 102



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

Number of LAC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The number of LAC has been stable for six quarters. There is evidence of 

a seasonal increase which will be included in Q2 report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage of children leaving care through adoption  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Emotional health and wellbeing: LAC and care leavers 

 

 

 

 

 

Our LAC rate is lower 
than regional and most 
similar authorities 
averages based on 
latest available data 
but higher than the 
national average. 

Derived from the 
Strengths and 
Difficulties 
Questionnaire. A 
score of 0-13 is 
considered 
normal. A score of 
14-16 is 
considered a 
borderline cause 
for concern.  

 

11.5%

14% 14%

16.6%

Durham England North East Statistical
Nearest

Neighbours

(10 children) 

P
age 103



Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children (LAC)? 

38 Children adopted from care has missed target and is performing below national 

and regional averages. LAC have the required number of health assessments 

and the emotional and behaviour health of LAC is below national and regional 

averages and care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable accommodation is below the 

regional average.  

39 As at 30 June 2018, there were 807 looked after children (LAC). The number of 

LAC has now stabilised at around 800 at any one time following a significant 

increase from around 600 in 2015/16. The rate per 10,000 population is 80.5; 

this is lower than the average of our regional neighbours (92), our statistical 

neighbours (87.5) but higher than in England as a whole (62). 

40 Sustained improvements are evidenced in the proportion of our LAC who have 

received dental checks and health assessments following close work with health 

colleagues in 2017/18. 

41 Eight in 10 of our LAC are in foster care, an achievement considering the 

increases in LAC and offering children stability in a family environment. 

42 A positive story continues for our care leavers in relation to their employment, 

education and training and living accommodation. A higher percentage of care 

leavers in County Durham are in employment, education and training or living in 

suitable accommodation than in England in 2016/17. 

43 Areas for improvement identified for the looked after service include: 

 Number of adoptions 

 Emotional and mental wellbeing of LAC and care leavers. 

44 Provisional data identifies that 80 children left care between April and June 

2018; of these, 10 children were adopted from care. This equates to 11.5%. This 

is fewer children than the same period of 2017 when 13 children were adopted. 

45 The Department for Education confirmed funding for the set-up of a new 

Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), Coast to Coast in March this year. Coast to 

Coast partner organisations are Cumbria County Council, Durham County 

Council and Together for Children (Sunderland City Council). The new RAA is 

being supported by a Voluntary Adoption Agency alliance which includes After 

Adoption, ARC Adoption North East, Barnardo’s, Caritas Care Adoption and 

DFW Adoption. 

46 A series of workshops were organised for July and August. These are high level 

design workshops and will set the vision / objectives and scope of the Coast to 

Page 104



Coast RAA Service. Further updates on the development of the RAA will be 

provided in future reports. 

47 A refreshed marketing and recruitment campaign has been designed and 

implemented and an increase in expressions of interest to adopt has been 

observed which it is hoped will be replicated in the numbers of children 

progressing to adoption for the rest of the reporting year. 

48 Provisional data for 2017/18 shows that 252 completed Strengths & Difficulties 

Questionnaires (SDQs) were received for Looked After Children (those aged 5 

and over who have been in care continuously for 12 months or more). The 

average ‘difficulties score’ for these looked after children was 15.5, which is a 

positive decrease from 16.0 in 2016/17 [A higher score indicates greater levels 

of emotional and behavioural difficulties]. It does however remain above latest 

benchmarking data for 2016/17 (national 14.1, North East 14.7, and statistical 

neighbours 14.0). 

49 A Looked After Children and Care Leavers Health Needs Assessment is due to 

be published shortly, including recommendations, which contains a focus on the 

emotional and mental wellbeing of LAC and Care Leavers.  

Risk Management 

50 Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda. The 

council’s risk management process sits alongside our change programme and is 

incorporated into all significant change and improvement projects. 

51 Failure to protect a child from death or serious harm (where service failure is a 

factor or issue). Management consider it possible that this risk could occur 

which, in addition to the severe impacts on children, will result in serious damage 

to the Council’s reputation and to relationships with its safeguarding partners. To 

mitigate the risk, actions are taken forward from Serious Case Reviews and 

reported to the Local Safeguarding Children Board. Lessons learned are fed into 

training for front line staff and regular staff supervision takes place. This risk is 

long term and procedures are reviewed regularly. 

Recommendations and reasons 

52 That the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

receive the report and consider any performance issues arising therewith.  

 

 Contact:  Jenny Haworth              Tel:  03000 268071      

 

 

Page 105



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance 

Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and financial 

planning. 

 

Staffing 

Performance against a number of relevant corporate health performance indicators has 

been included to monitor staffing issues. 

 

Risk  

Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated into the 

quarterly monitoring report. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty  

Corporate health PIs are monitored as part of the performance monitoring process.  

 

Accommodation  

Not applicable. 

 

Crime and Disorder  

A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and disorder are 

continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary. 

 

Human Rights  

Not applicable. 

 

Consultation  

Not applicable. 

 

Procurement  

Not applicable. 

 

Disability Issues  

Employees with a disability are monitored as part of the performance monitoring 

process.  

 

Legal Implications  

Not applicable. 

 

Page 106



Appendix 2: Key Performance Indicators  

 

There are two types of performance indicators throughout this document: 

(a) Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its 
partners; and 

(b) Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and/or can only be partially influenced by the 
council and its partners.   

A guide is available which provides full details of indicator definitions and data sources for the 2017/18 corporate indicator set. This is available to 

view either internally from the intranet or can be requested from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

KEY TO SYMBOLS 

  Direction of travel  Benchmarking  Performance against target 

GREEN 
 

Same or better than comparable period  Same or better than comparable group 
 

Meeting or exceeding target 

AMBER 
 Worse than comparable period 

(within 2% tolerance) 
 

Worse than comparable group  
(within 2% tolerance) 

 
Performance within 2% of target 

RED 
 Worse than comparable period  

(greater than 2%) 
 

Worse than comparable group  
(greater than 2%) 

 
Performance >2% behind target 

 
National Benchmarking 
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of 
councils, for example educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary 
councils. 
 
North East Benchmarking 
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region, i.e. County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead, 
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-On-Tees, South Tyneside, 
Sunderland, The number of authorities also varies according to the performance indicator and functions of councils. 
 
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk 

 

P
age 107

mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk
mailto:performance@durham.gov.uk


Key Target and Tracker Indicators 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

24 
CYPS 

24 

Average attainment 8 score  

(pupils at the end of KS4 in state funded 

mainstream and special schools and 

academies – replacing GCSE attainment) 

44.6* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 
New 

methodology 
46.4 44.6 45.3 

 
N/a N/a RED GREEN AMBER 

25 
CYPS 

27 

Average point score per A level entry 

of state-funded school students 
31.9* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 31.7 31.1 30.9 30.7 
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

26 
CYPS

28 

% of pupils achieving the expected 

standard in Reading, Writing and 

Maths (KS2) 

64.6* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 59.0 64.4 65.0 62.0 
 

N/a GREEN GREEN AMBER GREEN 

27 
CYPS 

2 

% of 16 to 17 year olds who are not in 

education, employment or training 

(NEET) 

5.1 Apr-Jun 18 
Tracker 4.8 2.7 4.0  

 
N/a RED RED RED  

28 
CYPS 

25 

Gap between the average Attainment 

8 score of Durham disadvantaged 

pupils and the average Attainment 8 

score of non-disadvantaged pupils 

nationally (KS4) 

-13.1* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 
New 

methodology 
-12.8 -14.8  

 

N/a N/a AMBER GREEN  

29 
CYPS 

26 

% of children in the Early Years 

Foundation Stage achieving a Good 

Level of Development 

72* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

64 69 70.7 70.7 68.6 
 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

30 
CYPS 

29 

Gap between the % of Durham 

disadvantaged pupils and the % of 

non-disadvantaged pupils nationally 

who achieve the expected standard in 

reading, writing and maths (KS2) 

-18* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker -16 -20 -15 -23 

 

N/a GREEN GREEN RED GREEN 

P
age 108



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

31 
CYPS 

30 

Ofsted % of primary pupils in good or 

better schools 
92 

As at  

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 91.6 90 91  As at 

31 Mar 

2018 N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

32 
CYPS 

31 

Ofsted % of secondary pupils in good 

or better schools 
61.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 64.5 80 66  
 

N/a RED RED RED  

33 
CYPS 

32 

Exclusion from school of All Durham 

children - percentage of children with 

at least one fixed exclusion 

1.77* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 2.0 2.11 2.01  2015/16 

academic 

year N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

34 
CYPS 

38 

% of all school pupils eligible for and 

claiming Free School Meals (FSM) 
19.4 Jan 2018 

Tracker 20.2 14.7 19.9  
Jan 2017 

N/a GREEN RED AMBER  

35 
AHS 

1 

Under 18 conception rate per 1,000 

girls aged 15 to 17 
21.3^ 2016/17 

Tracker 25.9 18.5^ 24.8^  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

36 
AHS 

2 

% of five year old children free from 

dental decay 
74.2 2016/17 

Tracker 64.9 76.7 76.1  
 

N/a GREEN RED RED  

37 
AHS 

3 

Alcohol specific hospital admissions 

for under 18s (rate per 100,000) 
56.2 

2014/15-

2016/17 

Tracker 67.5 34.2 64.8  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

38 
AHS 

4 

Young people aged 10-24 admitted to 

hospital as a result of self-harm 
400.8 2016/17 

Tracker 420.8 404.6 425.3  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

           

P
age 109



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

1. Are children, young people and families in receipt of universal services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

39 
AHS 

5 

% of children aged 4 to 5 years 

classified as overweight or obese 
24.1* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 24.3 22.6 24.5  
 

N/a GREEN RED GREEN  

40 
AHS 

6 

% of children aged 10 to 11 years 

classified as overweight or obese 
37.7* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 37.0 34.2 37.3  
 

N/a AMBER RED AMBER  

41 
CYPS 

33 

% of Education Health and Care 

Plans completed in the statutory 20 

week time period (excl. exceptions) 

94.2 
Jan–Jun 

2018 

90 65.3 64.9 78.8  
2017 

GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN  

*provisional data for the 2017/18 academic year will be available at quarter 2 and final data available quarter 3. 
^provisional data 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 110



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

2. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Early Help services appropriately supported? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

42 
CYPS 

22 

% of successful interventions (families 

turned around) via the Stronger 

Families Programme (Phase 2) 

[number] 

30.3 

[1,323] 

Sep 14- 

Mar 18 

50.4 

[2,197] 

23.3 

[1,015] 
23.1 27.0 23.9 

 

RED GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

43 
CYPS 

23 

% of children aged 0-2 years in the 

top 30% IMD registered with a Family 

Centre and having sustained contact 

89.8 
Jan–Dec 

2017 

80 88.1    

 

GREEN GREEN    

 

 

ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Social Work services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

44 
CYPS 

14 

% of statutory referrals received by 

the First Contact Team or Emergency 

Duty Team processed within 1 

working day 
 

88.1 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 85.5    

 

N/a GREEN    

45 
CYPS 

15 

% of statutory children in need 

referrals occurring within 12 months of 

a previous referral 

 

17.9 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 17.0 21.9 20.1 20.7 

2016/17 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN GREEN 

P
age 111



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

3. Are children, young people and families in receipt of Social Work services appropriately supported and safeguarded? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

46 
CYPS 

16 

% of single assessments completed 

within 45 working days 
75.7 

Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 83.2 82.9 83.1 82.8 
2016/17 

N/a RED RED RED RED 

47 
CYPS 

17 

Rate of children subject to a child 

protection plan per 10,000 population 

aged under 18 [number of children] 

46.8 

[471] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
48.6 

[486] 
43.3 60.5  As at 31 

Mar 2017 
N/a N/a N/a N/a  

48 
CYPS 

18a 

Rate of children in need per 10,000 

population aged under 18 (statutory 

L4 open cases) [number of children] 

346.8 

[3,478] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
361.4 

[3,624] 
312 339 354 

2016/17 

N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

49 
CYPS

18c 

Rate of children at level 2 or 3 per 

10,000 population aged under 18 

(One Point L2/3 open cases) [No. of 

children] 

234.3 

[2,350] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
237.5 

[2,382] 
   

 

N/a N/a    

50 
CYPS

19 

% of strategy meetings initiated which 

led to an initial child protection 

conference being held within 15 

working days 

72.5 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

75 42.6^ 77 86 83 

2016/17 

RED GREEN RED RED RED 

51 
CYPS

20 

% of Social Workers with fewer than 

20 cases 
45.5* 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 43    
 

N/a GREEN    

52 

new 
new 

% of Case File Audits which are given 

a scaling score of 6 or above 

New 

PI**  
New PI 

Tracker 
new 

indicator 
   

 

N/a N/a    

*Please note that the social worker caseload data above is based upon 2,689 cases as Team Managers, Social Work Consultants, Social Workers on their Assessed and Supported Year 

Employment (ASYEs), and Student Social Workers are excluded and any cases they carry are also excluded.   ** Data will be reported from next quarter. 

^data last year was impacted by significant staffing issues in the Independent Reviewing Officer team, this has now been resolved.  

P
age 112



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

53 
CYPS 

3 

Rate of children looked after per 

10,000 population aged under 18 

[number of children] 

80.3 

[807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
78.7 

[789] 
62 92 87.5 As at  

31 Mar 

2017 N/a N/a N/a N/a N/a 

54 
CYPS 

4 

% of children adopted from care (as % 

of total children leaving care) [number 

of children] 

11.5 

[10] 

Apr–Jun 

2018 

15 
11.9 

[13] 
14 14 16.6 

2016/17 

RED GREEN RED RED RED 

55 
CYPS 

5 
% of LAC who are fostered 

80 

[646 

/807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
81.4 

[640/786] 
   

 

N/a RED    

56 
CYPS 

6 
% of external residential placements 

3.2 

[26 

/807] 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker 
3.2 

[25/789] 
   

 

N/a GREEN     

57 
CYPS

7 

% of children looked after 

continuously for 12 months or more 

who had a dental check 

93.7 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 82.5 83 83 83 
2016/17 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN GREEN 

58 
CYPS

8 

% of children looked after 

continuously for 12 months or more 

who have had the required number of 

health assessments 

89.9 
Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 86.4 89 91 91 

2016/17 

N/a GREEN AMBER AMBER AMBER 

59 
CYPS

9 

Emotional and behavioural health of 

children looked after continuously for 

12 months or more 

 

15.5 2017/18 

Tracker 16.0 14.1 14.7 14.0 

 

N/a GREEN RED RED RED 

P
age 113



ALTOGETHER BETTER FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

4. Are we being a good corporate parent to Looked After Children? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered 

if 

different 

60 
CYPS

10 

Average Attainment 8 score of Looked 

After Children 
21.9* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker N/a 19.3 20.1 18.3 

 
N/a 

Not 

comparable 
GREEN GREEN RED 

61 
CYPS

11 

% of LAC achieving the expected 

standard in Reading, Writing and 

Maths (atLAC) 

35.0* 

2016/17 

academic 

year 

Tracker 38 33 32  
 

N/a RED GREEN GREEN  

62 

new 

CYPS

12a 

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 

education, employment or training 

(EET) 

85.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 62 66 64 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

63 

new 

CYPS

12b 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

education, employment or training 

(EET) 

55.3 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 50 50 50 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

64 

new 

CYPS

13a 

% of care leavers aged 17-18 in 

suitable accommodation 
94.1 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 88 93 88 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN GREEN GREEN 

65 

new 

CYPS

13b 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

suitable accommodation 
87.6 

As at 

30 Jun 

2018 

Tracker N/a 84 90 90 

2016/17 
N/a 

New 

definition 
GREEN RED RED 

*provisional data for the 2017/18 academic year will be available at quarter 2 and final data available quarter 3. 
^provisional data 

P
age 114



Other additional relevant indicators 
 

ALTOGETHER WEALTHIER 

1. Do residents have good job prospects? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

5 
CYPS 

1 
% of 16 to 17 year olds in an 
apprenticeship 

9.6 
As at Mar 

2018 

Tracker 9.1 5.9 8.1  
 

N/a GREEN GREEN GREEN  

 

ALTOGETHER HEALTHIER 

1. Are our services improving the health of our residents? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

66 
AHS 

12 
% of mothers smoking at time of 
delivery 

17.2^ 2017/18 
15.9 16.7 10.8^ 16.3^  

 
RED RED RED RED  

74 
AHS 

38 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6-8 

weeks from birth 
29.2 

Apr-Jun 

2018 

Tracker 28.2 43.6 32.7  Oct-Dec 

2017 N/a GREEN RED RED  

^provisional data 

  

P
age 115



 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

1. How effective are we at tackling crime and disorder? 

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

87 
CYP 
35 

First time entrants to the youth 
justice system aged 10 to 17 (per 
100,000 population of 10 to 17 year 
olds) 

294 
Jan-Dec 

2017 

Tracker 391 292 366 291 
 

N/a GREEN AMBER GREEN AMBER 

91 
CYP 
36 

Proven re-offending by young people 
(who offend) in a 12 month period 
(%) [number] 

41.6 
[1,131] 

Oct 2015 - 
Sep 2016 

Tracker - 41.9 45.7  
 

N/a  GREEN GREEN  

 

ALTOGETHER SAFER 

4. How well do we tackle abuse of vulnerable people, including domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation and radicalisation?  

Ref 
PI 

ref 
Description 

Latest 

data 
Period 

covered 

Comparison to 

Period 

target 

12 

months 

earlier 

National 

figure 

North 

East 

figure 

Nearest 

statistical 

neighbour 

Period 

covered if 

different 

104 
CYP 
34 

Number of child sexual exploitation 
referrals 

169 
Jul 2017- 
Jun 2018 

Tracker 167    
 

N/a N/a    

 

 
 

P
age 116



Appendix 3: Changes to Performance Indicators 

 
Altogether better for children and young people 

Indicator Change 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

suitable accommodation 

This indicator has been deleted and replaced with 
the following two indicators: 

 % of care leavers aged 17-18 in suitable 
accommodation 

 % of care leavers aged 19-21 in suitable 
accommodation 

% of care leavers aged 19-21 in 

education, employment or training 

This indicator has been deleted and replaced with 
the following two indicators: 

 % of care leavers aged 17-18 in education, 
employment or training 

 % of care leavers aged 19-21 in education, 
employment or training 

Level 3 cases open to families first 

teams – rates her 10,000 population 

aged under 18 

This indicator has been deleted as Families First 
Team’s no longer carry level 3 cases 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

26th September 2018

CYPS – Revenue and Capital Outturn 
2017/18

Report of Paul Darby, Head of Finance (Financial Services)

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide details of the outturn budget position for the CYPS service grouping, 
highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for 2017/18. 

Background

2. The County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2017/18 at 
its meeting on 22 February 2017. These budgets have subsequently been 
revised to take account of transfers to and from reserves, grant 
additions/reductions, budget transfers between service groupings and budget 
re-profiling between years.  This report covers the financial position for:

 CYPS  Revenue Budget - £99.633m (original £97.897m)
 CYPS Capital Programme – £19.826m (original £28.819m) 

3. The original CYPS revenue budget has been revised to incorporate a number of 
budget adjustments as summarised in the table below:

Reason For Adjustment £’000
Original Budget 97,897
Reason For Adjustment  
Transfer from Contingencies 903
Use of (+)/contribution to CYPS reserves (-) -5,788
Use of (+)/contribution to Corporate reserves (-) 307
Transfer from Other Services 6,462
Transfer to Other Services -148
Revised Budget 99,633

Page 119

Agenda Item 11



4. The use of (+) / contribution to (-) CYPS reserves consists of:

Reserve £’000
EDU-EBP Reserve 272
EDU-SEND reform Grant Reserve -155
EDU-CPD Reserve -172
EDU-High Needs Review -170
EDU-Durham Learning Resources Reserve -12
EDU-Emotional Wellbeing Reserve -242
EDU-Mental Health Counselling 19
EDU-Movement Difficulties Reserve 11
EDU-Re-profiling reserve 8
EDU-Music Service 4
EDU-School and Governor Support 66
EDU-Swimming Reserve -10
EDU-School Condition Survey -457
EDU-Progression and Learning 2015-18 -556
EDU-Progression and Learning 2018-21 -698
EDU-North East Social Work Alliance -451
EDU-Early Years Activity Reserve -585
EDU-Easington Sports Partnership -42
EDU-Durham Sports Partnership -370
EDU-Adult Learning -1,426
CHS-Transformation Reserve -136
CHS-YOS Development Reserve -37
CHS-Secure Services Capital Reserve 96
CHS-Tackling Troubled Families Reserve -745
Total -5,788

5. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial 
year 2017/18 and show: -

 The approved annual budget together with actual income and expenditure as 
recorded in the Council’s financial management system;

 The variance between the annual budget and the outturn position;

 For the CYPS revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash limit to 
take into account such items as redundancies met from the strategic reserve, 
capital charges not controlled by services and use of / or contributions to 
earmarked reserves.

Page 120



Revenue Outturn

6. The CYPS service is reporting a cash limit overspend of £3.061m against a 
revised budget of £99.633m which represents a 3.1% overspend

7. The tables below show the revised annual budget, actual expenditure and the 
variance at the year end. The first table is analysed by Subjective Analysis (i.e. 
type of expense) and shows the combined position for CYPS, and the second is 
by Head of Service area.

Subjective Analysis (Type of Expenditure)

   Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

   Actual    Variance    Items 
Outside 

Cash Limit  

  Cash Limit 
Variance  

  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 

 Employees     74,035     70,133     (3,902)          (25)     (3,927)
 Premises      4,294      4,342           48          (47)             1 
 Transport     14,891     14,873          (18)             -          (18)
 Supplies and Services     10,443      9,909        (534)        (100)        (634)
 Third Party Payments     22,013     30,924      8,911             -      8,911 
 Transfer Payments      1,692      1,708           16             -           16 
 Central Support and Capital     38,871     46,046      7,175     (1,404)      5,771 
 Income    (66,606)    (86,882)    (20,276)     13,217     (7,059)
     99,633     91,053     (8,580)     11,641      3,061 

Analysis by Head of Service Area

   
Revised 
Annual 
Budget  

  Actual    
Variance  

  Items 
Outside 

Cash 
Limit  

  Cash 
Limit 

Varianc
e  

  £000  £000  £000  £000  £000 
 Head of Service - LAC Permanence and Care 165 123 (42) (9) (51)
 Looked After Provision Permanence and Care 27,154 31,966 4,812 (186) 4,626
 Efficiency and Improvement 64 81 17 (6) 11
 Secure Services (1,103) (76*4) 339 (339) -
 Aycliffe Site and Price Training 685 252 (433) 444 11
 Head of Education (1,108) (1,107) 1 - 1
 Progression and Learning (1,091) (1,177) (86) 10 (76)
 School Places and Admissions 33,520 23,085 (10,435) 9,814 (621)
 SEN and Disability and Inclusion 2,309 1,843 (466) 87 (379)
 Support and Development 1,860 1,267 (593) (104) (697)
 Childrens Services Operational Support 4,790 4,502 (288) (24) (312)
 Childrens Services Reform      1,462      1,425          (37)             - (37)
 One Point       1,517      1,445          (72)          (63) (135)
 Think Family Service        (890)        (883)             7            (7) -
 Recharges and Non Target      6,599      6,173        (426)         405 (21)
 Families First     17,288     18,738      1,450         135 1,585
 HOS - Early Help Assessment and Safeguarding 903 233 (670) 7 (663)
 Youth Offending Service 2,167 1,980 (187) (7) (194)
 Central Charges 3,342 1,871 (1,471) 1,484 13
 99,633 91,053 (8,580) 11,641 3,061

Page 121



8. The table below provides a brief commentary of the cash limit variances against 
the revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The table identifies variances 
in the core budget only and excludes items outside of the cash limit: 

 Service Area Description
Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000

Head of Service - 
LAC Permanence

Savings from the Head of Service post which was vacant in Q1 (£21K) and the 
balance mainly relates to the remaining budget from the vacant residential team 
manager post.

(51)

Looked After 
Provision 
Permanence and 
Care Leavers

The budget for fostering and external residential care for looked after children 
was £4.42m overspent in 2017-18. The budget and forecast variance £0.31m for 
Children Looked After in external residential schools is reflected in the Families 
First section of the Table. The budget for CLA has been increased by £3.944m 
growth monies in 2018-19.

The balance of the forecast overspend mainly related to leaving care 
accommodation costs, university and activity expenses. The budget in 2018-19 
has been increased by £463K growth monies to fund pressures on the Leaving 
Care Service.

4,626

Efficiency and 
Improvement

Overspend relates to the costs of newly created support workers appointed to 
review Special Guardianship Allowances. The budget for these workers has 
been revised in 2018-19. 11 

Secure Services

Secure Services made a surplus of £34K mainly as a result of surplus income 
from the sale of welfare beds .The £34K has been transferred to the earmarked 
reserve at the year end. - 

Aycliffe Site and Price 
Training

The forecast overspend relates to residual premises costs for 2017/18 pending 
the delayed demolition of buildings on the Aycliffe site. 11 

4,597

Service Area Description
Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000

Head of Education Expenditure is in line with budget. -

Progression and 
Learning There is an under spend in this area against employee budgets due to vacancies (76)

School Places and 
Admissions

The under spend relates to reduced costs against historical further education 
pension liability budgets (£80k), staffing vacancies and income over and above 
budget (£223k), and an under spend on the Home to School Transport budget 
(£317k). 

(620)

SEN and Disability 
and Inclusion

The under spend in this area relates to vacant posts in the Education 
Psychology team, where Educational Psychologist posts are difficult to recruit to. (379)

Support and 
Development

The forecast under spend relates to vacant posts in the Early Years and 
Education Development Service teams due to early achievement of MTFP 
savings, as well as additional one-off income of £310k in excess of budget. (697)

(1,772)

Page 122



Service Area
Description

Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000

Childrens Services 
Operational Support  

Childrens Services 
Operational Support

 
The under spend relates to savings against staff budgets due to vacant posts 
held vacant in advance of a review of business support services. (312)

(312)

Service Area Description
Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000

Childrens Services  
Head of Early Help 
Assessment and 
Safeguarding
Childrens Services 
Reform

The saving mainly relates to an underspend on employees due to vacant posts. (37)

One Point Service The underspend mainly results from a planned reduction on spend on activities. (136)

Think Family Service
Stronger Families plans are funded from grant income and earmarked reserves 
and the Service contributed £745K to the earmarked reserve during the financial 
year.

0 

Recharges and Non 
Target A small under spend in relation to a reduced bad debt provision. (22)

Families First

Expenditure on employees was over budget by a total of £230K mainly as a 
result of expenditure on agency staff offset by savings on vacancies.

Expenditure on placements costs of looked after children with a disability in 
external residential schools was £0.31m over budget. Placement costs 
associated with children not looked i.e. in Child Arrangement or Special 
Guardianship arrangements was over budget by £424K.The budget for non 
looked after placement costs has been increased by growth funding of £586K in 
2018-19.

Expenditure on hired transport for children was also over budget by £213K.

In addition the service was over budget by £125K as a result of the extension to 
the domestic violence contract in 2017-18. Childrens Services contribution to the 
contract ended on 31st March 2018.

Overspends of £74K on legal expenses and £38K on short term benefit cover 
payments also contributed to the overspend in the Families First Teams.

1,587 

HOS - Early Help 
Assessment and 
Safeguarding 

The budget for agency staff (£450K) is held by the Head of Service although the 
costs of agency staff were charged directly to individual social work teams in 
2017-18. In addition there was a (£200K) saving in 17/18 on activities in One 
Point following the reallocation of the activities budget.

(663)

Youth Offending 
Service

Expenditure on remand bed nights was over budget by £57K offset by in year 
savings on vacant posts (£138K).

(£35K) under budget on all premises following less than expected running costs 
in 2017/18 together with a refund of (£33K) for computer equipment and savings 
on car allowances (£19K) account for the majority of the balance of the saving.

(194)

 535 

Page 123



Service Area Description
Cash 
limit 

Variance 
£000

Central Charges 
(CYPS)
Other Services A small over spend in relation to increased bad debt provision. 13

13
3,061

9. In summary, the service overspent the cash limit budget by £3.061m. The 
outturn position incorporates the MTFP savings built into the 2017/18 budgets, 
which for CYPS in total amounted to £4.729m.

Schools

10. Maintained schools carry forward accumulated surpluses and deficits from one 
year to the next. At 31 March 2018 there was an overall net surplus balance 
£17.477m to be carried forward to 2018/19- this figure excludes balances for 
schools that converted to academies during Q4.

11. A summary is shown below:

School balances at 31 March 2018 (£000s)

 
Original 17/18 
Budget Gross 
Expenditure

Retained 
Balance at 31 
March 2018

Balance 
C/fwd as % 

of Gross 
Budget

Nursery 4,958 700 14.12%
PRU 3,774 - 0

Primary 191,376 15,814 8.26%
Secondary 76,079 -1,398 -1.84%

Special 25,332 2,361 9.32%
Total 301,518 17,477 5.80%

Page 124



12. The table below shows schools with a deficit balance at 31 March 2018:

School balances at 31 March 2018 (£000s)

 
Deficit at 
31 March 

2018

Original 
Budget 
Gross 

Expenditure

Difference 
as % of 
gross 

expenditure

Aclet Close Nursery School (9,870) 319,588 3.09% 
Bloemfontein Primary (5,448) 806,247 0.68% 
Hunwick Primary (44,511) 823,000 5.41% 
Crook Primary (59,531) 2,136,979 2.79% 
Bp Auckland Etherley Lane Primary (22,802) 1,418,752 1.61% 
St. Helens Auckland Primary (15,938) 1,037,840 1.54% 
Wingate Infants (9,584) 862,664 1.11% 
Horndale Infants (4,662) 743,773 0.63% 
St. Stephen's CE Primary (24,745) 1,075,073 2.30% 
Green Lane CE Primary (25,231) 1,094,629 2.31% 
St. Anne's CE Primary (22,603) 1,032,314 2.19% 
St. Cuthbert's RC Primary, Ch-le-St (634) 882,163 0.07% 
St. Joseph's RC Primary, Blackhall (37,890) 472,319 8.02% 
Woodham Burn Primary School (56,420) 1,273,123 4.43% 
Tanfield School (486,747) 3,459,096 14.07% 
Wolsingham School (1,239,501) 4,031,937 30.74% 
Bishop Barrington School (97,599) 4,674,079 2.09% 
Wellfield School (3,393,281) 4,421,033 76.75% 
The Durham Federation (2,667) 4,808,186 0.06% 
The Croft Community School (73,996) 2,469,370 3.00% 

(5,633,662)

13. With the exceptions of Tanfield, Wolsingham, Wellfield, The Durham Federation 
and The Croft, all of these schools have set a balanced budget for 2018-19.   
The Durham Federation is expected to be able to balance its budget by the end 
of the year and officers from Financial Services and Education are working with 
The Croft to look at its budgets and also whether pupils are in the correct 
funding bands.   Tanfield, should start be able to set an in-year surplus from 
2019-20.   Wolsingham and Wellfield have been in deficit for a number of years 
and the Council is looking at options for reorganisation for Wolsingham and 
Wellfield.

Page 125



Capital Programme

14. The CYPS capital programme has been revised earlier in 2017/18to take into 
account budget re-profiled from 2016/17 following the final accounts for that 
year.

15. The revised Budget is presented below together with actual expenditure. 

CYPS  Revised Budget 
2017/18   

£’000

 Actual 
Expenditure 

2017/18 
£’000

 Variance 
2017/18 

£’000

 SCP - LEP              1,032                      840               (192)
 Childrens Care                  168                           4               (164)
 CYPS-Childrens Services - Planning & Service Strategy              1,000                      541               (459)
 Early  Intervention & Involvement                       -                           -                       - 
 Early Years              2,413                  1,624               (789)
 School Devolved Capital              3,689                  1,606            (2,083)
 School Related            11,217                  8,771            (2,446)
 Free School Meals Support                    94                        63                 (31)
 Secure Services                  213                      259                    46 

 CYPS Total 19,826 13,708             (6,118)

Recommendations

16. Members of Overview and Scrutiny committee are requested to note the detail 
within the report.

Contact:       Andrew Baldwin – Finance Manager                 Tel:  03000 263 490

Page 126



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of 
the revenue and capital outturn position. 

Staffing

There are no implications associated with this report. Any over or under spending 
against the employee budgets are disclosed within the report.

Risk
The management of risk is intrinsic to good budgetary control. This report forms an 
important part of the governance arrangements within CYPS. Through routine / regular 
monitoring of budgets and continual re-forecasting to year end the service grouping 
can ensure that it manages its finances within the cash envelope allocated to it.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Accommodation
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Crime and Disorder
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Human Rights
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Consultation
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Procurement
There are no implications associated with this report.

Disability Issues
There are no implications associated with this report.

Legal Implications
There are no implications associated with this report.

Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Children and Young People’s Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 

26th September 2018

CYPS – Revenue and Capital Quarter 1 
Forecast Outturn 2018/19

Report of Paul Darby, Head of Finance (Financial Services)

Purpose of the Report

1. To provide details of the forecast outturn budget position for the CYPS service 
grouping, highlighting major variances in comparison with the budget for the year, 
based on the position to the end of June 2018.

Background

2. The County Council approved the Revenue and Capital budgets for 2018/19 at its 
meeting on 21 February 2018. These budgets have subsequently been revised to take 
account of transfers to and from reserves, grant additions/reductions, budget transfers 
between service groupings and budget reprofiling between years.  This report covers 
the financial position for:

 CYPS  Revenue Budget - £110.156m (original £106.564m)

 CYPS Capital Programme – £35.370m (original £23.983m) 

3. The original CYPS revenue budget has been revised to incorporate a number of budget 
adjustments as summarised in the table below:

Reason For Adjustment £’000

Original Budget 106,564

Reason For Adjustment  

Transfer From Contingencies 891

Use of (+)/contribution to CYPS reserves (-) 2,212

Use of (+)/contribution to Corporate reserves (ERVR) (-) 973

Transfer from Other Services 0

Transfer to Other Services (484)

Revised Budget 110,156

Page 129

Agenda Item 12



2

4. The use of / contribution to  CYPS reserves consists of:

Reserve £’000

SEND Reform Grant reserve 231

School and Governor Support reserve 70

Durham Learning Resources reserve 52

High Needs Strategic Review reserve 170

Tackling Troubled Families reserve 242

North East Social Work Alliance reserve 377

Schools Reserve 1,000

Early Years Activity reserve 70

Total 2,212

5. The summary financial statements contained in the report cover the financial year 2018/19 
and show: 

 The approved annual budget together with actual income and expenditure as recorded 
in the Council’s financial management system;

 The variance between the annual budget and the forecast outturn;

 For the CYPS revenue budget, adjustments for items outside of the cash limit to take 
into account such items as redundancies met from the strategic reserve, capital 
charges not controlled by services and use of / or contributions to earmarked reserves.

Revenue Outturn

6. The CYPS service is reporting a cash limit underspend of £0.429m against a revised 
budget of £110.156m, which represents a c0.4% underspend.

7. The tables below show the revised annual budget, actual expenditure to 30 June 2018 
and the updated forecast of outturn to the year end, including the variance forecast at 
year end. The first table provides a Subjective Analysis (i.e. type of expense) and shows 
the combined position for CYPS, and the second analyses the outturn position by Head 
of Service.

Page 130



3

Subjective Analysis (Type of Expenditure)

Children and Young 
Peoples Services

Revised 
Annual 
Budget

YTD 
Actual

Forecast 
Outturn

Variance Items 
Outside 

Cash Limit

Cash Limit 
Variance

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Employees     73,230     18,449     72,254 (976)             - (976) 

Premises      4,172      1,092      3,976 (196)             - (196) 

Transport     15,140      2,405     15,659         519             -         519 

Supplies & Services     11,514      4,373     11,406 (108)             - (108) 

Third Party Payments     27,435      4,875     28,204         769             -         769 

Transfer Payments      1,686         364      1,186 (500)             - (500) 

Central Support & Capital     43,431         824     43,625         194             -         194 

Income (66,452) (22,586) (66,583) (131)             - (131) 

Total   110,156      9,797   109,727 (429)             - (429) 

Analysis by Head of Service Area

Revised 
Annual 
Budget

YTD Actual Forecast 
Outturn

Variance Items 
Outside 

Cash Limit

Cash 
Limit 

Variance

CYPS

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Childrens Social Care

Aycliffe Site and Price Training 628 216 639 11 - 11

Strategic MGR Families First North 8,142 1,035 8,608 466 - 466

Strategic MGR Families First South 9,680 2,494 10,369 689 - 689

Looked After Provision 
Permanence and Care Leavers 31,852 7,812 32,903 1,051 - 1,051

Efficiency and Improvement 131 26 127 (3) - (3)

Head of Service - LAC 
Permanence and Care Leavers 1,371 32 972 (399) - (399)

Childrens Services Reform 3,007 868 3,025 18 - 18

Sub Total 54,811 12,483 56,643 1,833 - 1,833

Page 131



4

Education

Building Schools For The Future (957) (1,742) (957)             -             -             - 

Support and Development      1,683 (1,383)      1,009 (673)             - (673) 

Progression and Learning      1,363      3,437      1,327 (36)             - (36) 

School Places and Admissions     33,327      2,373     33,097 (231)             - (231) 

Head of Education (1,108)         122 (1,108)             -             -             - 

Other Services      4,373 (2,016)      4,373             -             -             - 

Sub Total     38,681         792     37,741 (940)             - (940) 

Operational Support

Childrens Services Operational 
Support      6,384      1,887      6,064 (320)             - (320) 

Sub Total      6,384      1,887      6,064 (320)             - (320) 

Early Help Inclusion and Vulnerable Children

Recharges and Non Target      7,520         180      7,501 (19)             - (19) 

One Point & Think Family Service      1,057 (5,752)         414 (642)             - (642) 

Head of Early Help Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children         720         121         498 (222)             - (222) 

Secure Services (1,678) (88) (1,678)             -             -             - 

SEN and Disability and Inclusion      2,662         172      2,543 (119)             - (119) 

Sub Total     10,280 (5,365)      9,278 (1,002)             - (1,002) 

Totals   110,156      9,797 109,727 (429)             - (429) 

8. The table below provides a brief commentary of the forecast cash limit variances 
against the revised budget, analysed by Head of Service. The table identifies variances 
in the core budget only and excludes items outside of the cash limit (e.g. central repairs 
and maintenance) and technical accounting adjustments (e.g. capital charges). 

 

Page 132



5

Service Area Description
Cash limit 
Variance 

£000

Head of Childrens Social Care

Aycliffe Site and Price 
Training

The over spend relates to ongoing premises costs on the Aycliffe site pending 
demolition of the remaining buildings. 11

Families First North

An overspend on unbudgeted agency staff costs in excess of savings accrued 
through vacancies is forecast to be £0.157m.

Transportation costs mainly through the use of taxis and volunteer drivers is 
forecast to overspend by £0.239m.Interim fostering allowances and hardship 
payments to families are forecast to overspend by £34K. The balance £36K of the 
forecast overspend mainly relates to leaving care costs and office set up costs 
following the recent restructure and movement of staff in Childrens Services.

466

Families First South

An overspend on unbudgeted agency staff costs in excess of savings accrued 
through vacancies is forecast to be £0.226m.Legal costs including court and 
expert fees are forecast to overspend by £97K .Expenditure on LAC in residential 
school placements is forecast to overspend by £196K and there is also a forecast 
shortfall on income for joint funded placements in residential schools from the 
CCGs of £416K.

The overspend position is being partly offset from forecast savings on shortbreaks 
and Direct Payments  (£0.104m) and domiciliary care services (£0.130m).

689

Looked After 
Provision, 
Permanence and 
Care Leavers

The overspend in the LAC service is mainly as a result of the following 
contributing factors-

 Increased costs of DCC employed staff at the in-house provided 
residential homes has led to signicant levels of overtime c. £0.288m as a 
result of sickness and other absences.

 £0.162m on unbudgeted agency staff supporting young people in new 
external bespoke packages.

 £67K on LAC Placements .NB this is in addition to the forecast overspend 
on LAC placements in residential schools highlighted in the Families First 
Section above.

 £0.168m overspend on Staying Put placements over and above the grant 
allocation. 

 £0.118m on a secure welfare placement. 
 £0.202m on transportation costs mainly related to the cost of hired 

transport and volunteer drivers.
 £52K on emergency supported lodgings payments.

1,051

Efficiency and 
Improvement Small forecast underspend on car allowances. (3)

Childrens Services 
Reform

The forecast variance mainly relates to the cost of young people remanded to 
secure accommodation. 18

Head of Service LAC, 
Permanence and 
Care Leavers

The forecast underspend relates to growth funding for leaving care services 
pending reallocation of the budget (£413K) offset by expenditure on recruitment 
costs.

(399)

1,833

Page 133



6

Service Area Description
Cash limit 
Variance 

£000

Head of Education

Director In line with budget -

BSF PFI In line with budget -

Progression and 
Learning Under spend relating to staffing vacancies. (36)

School Places and 
Admissions

An under spend of £229k is forecast against the Home to School Transport 
budget due to the receipt of additional grant for extended rights, notified to local 
authorities in July 2018.

(231)

Support and 
Development

This underspend primarily relates to accessing of alternative funding for the 
previously base budget funded nursery sustainability of £485k. There is also an 
under spend of £70k on employee budgets due to vacancies and £118k from 
income in excess of budgeted levels.

(673)

  (940)

Service Area Description
Cash limit 
Variance 

£000

Childrens Services Operational Support 

Childrens Services 
Operational Support

The under spend in this area relates to vacancies across Locality Support teams, 
which are currently being held in advance of MTFP savings for 2019/20. (320)

(320)

Page 134



7

Service Area Description
Cash limit 
Variance 

£000

Head of Early Help, Inclusion and Vulnerable Children 

Recharges and Non 
Target

There is a forecast underspend (£19K) on the advocacy contract following the 
reallocation of the costs between Childrens and Secure Services in the current 
financial year.

(19)

One Point and Think 
Family Service

The service is accessing additional non recurrent income amount of (£0.615m) 
in 2018/19. The One Point Service is forecasting savings of (£72K) on building 
repairs and minor improvements costs offset by a forecast overspend of £55K 
on car allowances.

(642)

Head of Early Help 
Inclusion and 
Vulnerable Children

The forecast underspend mainly relates to planned savings on the activity 
budget previously held in the One Point Service. (222)

Secure Services 
Secure Services are forecasting to breakeven at Q1, the forecast assumes no 
variance in budgeted income from the sale of welfare and high dependency 
beds.

-

SEN,Disability and 
Inclusion 

There is a forecast under spend of (£119k) against budget, which relates to 
vacancies in the Education Psychology and SEND Casework Teams. (119)

(1,002)

9. In summary, the service is forecast to underspend against its cash limit budget by 
£0.429m The outturn position incorporates the MTFP savings built into the 2018/19 
budgets, which for CYPS in total amount to £2.742m.

Schools

10. Maintained schools budgets and carry forward accumulated surpluses and deficits from 
one year to the next. At the end of 2017/18 the net balances carried forward by schools 
totalled £18.415 million:

31 March 2018

£000

Maintained Schools (18,063)

Communities of Learning (384)

Loans to Schools 32

Total (18,415)

11. The Communities of Learning balance is unspent amounts allocated to clusters of 
schools to support collaborative provision for Special Educational Needs.   This balance 
will be moved to the Local Authority balances during 2018-19.

Page 135



8

12. Loans to Schools are the remaining loans made to schools under the old loan scheme, 
which ended in 2013.   Schools are now able to obtain loans from a new scheme, 
financed by the Council.

13. In relation to maintained schools, the balances carried forward form part of the available 
resources available to school to fund future year’s activity. The retained balances 
supplement the budget share determined by the current formal, Pupil premium and 
other income.

14. All schools have delegated budgets and carry forward under or over spends to the 
following financial year as either a surplus or deficit.  At 31 March 2018, 20 schools had 
a deficit balance, where their spending had exceeded their accumulated balances, 
totalling £5.634 million:

 
Schools with 
deficits at 31 
March 2018

 No. £0

Nursery 1 10

Alternative provision - -

Primary 13 330

Secondary 5 5,220

Special 1 74

Total 20 5,634

15. With the exception of 3 schools where the section 151 officer has granted permission to 
set a deficit budget, all school are forecast to clear their deficit in 2018-19 and carry 
forward a surplus at 31 March 2019.

16. Since the start of the financial year four schools have converted to academies and 
balances held in respect of schools that converted in 2017-18 have been paid over to 
the academy trusts.   Excluding the balances for these former maintained schools, the 
total maintained school balances brought forward to 2018-19 are £17.126 million.

17. Schools were notified of their budget shares at the end of February and set their 
budgets for the year during March and April.   The table below summarises schools’ 
original budget plans for 2018-19.

School budget plans 
(£ million) 

Surplus / 
Deficit at 
31 March 

2018

Budget 
share

Pupil 
Premium

Other 
Income

Total 
Resources 
Available

Total 
Budgeted 

Gross 
Expenditure

Surplus / 
Deficit at 
31 March 

2019

 Nursery  (700) (1,059) (32) (3,687) (5,479) 4,930 (548)

 Alternative provision - (4,459) (81) (17) (4,557) 4,557 -

 Primary  (15,766) (147,276) (14,106) (27,694) (204,842) 193,634 (11,208)

 Secondary  1,702 (55,478) (3,552) (11,077) (68,406) 72,670 4,264

 Special  (2,361) (22,081) (754) (2,535) (27,732) 26,575 (1,157)

 Total  (17,126) (230,353) (18,525) (45,011) (311,016) 302,366 (8,650)

A (negative) balance in the surplus / deficit columns represents a surplus.

Page 136



9

18. Alternative provision refers to The Woodlands, which is a pupil-referral unit for pupils 
permanently excluded from mainstream schools and also makes provision for pupils 
who are at risk of permanent exclusion.

19. The budget share consists of formula funding for mainstream nursery, primary and 
secondary schools, plus pupil-led funding for special schools and funding for places in 
Enhanced Mainstream Provision in mainstream primary and secondary schools.

20. Pupil Premium is currently an estimated as actuals are determined by the DfE and are 
not confirmed until later in the year.

21. Other income includes:

 £000

 Grant income (34,542) 

 Contributions (220) 

 Sales (6,490) 

 Lettings (966) 

 Income from local authority (1,135) 

 Other (1,658) 

Total Other Income (45,011) 

22. Grant income includes funding for Universal Infant Free School Meals and PE & Sport.  
Sales income is mainly from school meals and out-of-hours care (e.g. breakfast clubs).  
Income from the local authority is mainly funding for early years and special educational 
needs.

23. After accounting for the identified funding and budgeted activity at the end of Quarter 1, 
the forecast balances at 31 March 2019 are for an overall net surplus balance 
£9.306 million to be carried forward to 2019/20 as summarised in the tables below.

Forecasts of school balances at 31 March 2019  (£000)

 Surplus balance 
of at least 2.5% of 

funding 

 Surplus balance 
below 2.5% of 

funding 

 Deficit 
balance 

 Total 

 Nursery (545) - - (545)

 Alternative Provision - - - -

 Primary (11,249) (290) - (11,539)

 Secondary (1,085) (1,083) 6,192 4,024

 Special (1,093) (154) - (1,246)

 Total (13,971) (1,528) 6,192 (9,306)

Page 137



10

24. The numbers of schools in each category are shown below:

Forecasts of school balances at 31 March 2019 (no of schools)

 

 Surplus 
balance of at 
least 2.5% of 

funding 

 Surplus balance 
below 2.5% of 

funding 

 Deficit 
balance  Total 

 Nursery 10 1 - 11

 Alternative Provision - 1 - 1

 Primary 147 47 - 194

 Secondary 5 7 4 16

 Special 5 4 - 9

 Total 167 60 4 231

25. The significance of balances above or below 2.5% of funding is that the Council views a 
balance of at least 2.5% as being appropriate in terms of the ability of schools to cope 
with unforeseen expenditure during the year. 

26. The School Funding Team continues to work with schools to support and provide 
advice about budget issues, and will be reviewing budgets in the autumn in preparation 
for budget-setting in spring 2019.  Where there are concerns about a school’s financial 
viability this is shared with the Education Service so that a joined-up approach to 
resolving these issues can be adopted.

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block

27. In June 2018 the Department for Education provided an updated Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG) allocation of £383.289m for Durham. The original DSG retained block 
budgets have been revised to incorporate a number of budget adjustments as 
summarised in the table below:

 Schools 
Block

High 
Needs 
Block

Early 
Years 
Block

Central 
School 

Services 
Block

Total

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Original Allocation 298,582 50,074 31,805 2,828 383,289
Reason For Adjustment
Recoupment for academies (90,084) - - - (90,084)
Recoupment for EFA direct funded places - (4,366) - - (4,366)
Funding received by DCC 208,498 45,714 31,805 2,828 288,839
Delegated to Mainstream Schools (207,881) - - - (207,881)
Delegated to Alternative Provision Schools - (4,459) - - (4,459)
Delegated to Special Schools - (22,946) - - (22,946)
Transfer to Enhanced Mainstream 
Provision - (776) - - (776)

Transfer to Nursery Outreach schools - (382) - - (382)
Transfer to Maintained Nursery Schools - - (1,059) - (1,059)
Centrally retained budget 617 17,145 30,746 2,828 51,336

Page 138



11

28. The Quarter 1 financial forecasts for the DSG budget show an over spend of £5.981m 
against a budget of £51.145m to year end, which represents a 12% over spend. 

DSG Block Budget 
[£’000]

Forecast 
[£’000]

Over / (Under) 
Spend [£’000]

Schools 617 1,067 450

High Needs 16,931 22,060 5,129

Early Years 30,769 31,171 402

Central Schools Services 2,828 2,828 -

Total 51,145 57,126 5,981

29. The forecast over spend position is largely driven by High Needs Block, which is 
forecast to over spend by £5.129m. 

30. The table below shows the DSG earmarked reserve position as at 1 April 2018 and the 
projected position as at 31 March 2019 taking into account the projections in this report 
and the transfer of £384k from school reserves in relation to Communities of Learning 
funding:

DSG Reserves High 
Needs 
Block 
[£'000]

Early 
Years 
Block 
[£'000]

Schools 
Block 
[£'000]

Total DSG 
[£'000]

Balance as at 1 April 2017 6,070 2,36 2,728 11,159

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2017/18 (4,652) (286) (1,488) (6,426)

Balance as at 31 March 2018 1,418 2,075 1,240 4,734

Planned Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2018/19 (5,129) (402) (450) (5,981)

Project balance as at 31 March 2019 (3,710) 1,673 790 (1,247)

31. The forecast over spend position on the High Needs Block will result in a deficit over 
and above available reserves of £3.710m. 

Capital Programme

32. The CYPS capital programme has been revised earlier in the year to take into account 
budget reprofiled from 2017/18 following the final accounts for that year.

33. The revised Budget is presented below together with actual expenditure to date. The 
Budget may be subsequently amended with approval from MOWG.

34. Summary financial performance to the end of June is shown below:

Page 139



12

Actual
CYPS

30/06/2018
Current 2018-

19 Budget
Budget 
2019-20

Total Capital 
Prog.

 £000 £000 £000 £000

Planning & Service Strategy 165,489 2,929,989 - 2,929,989

Childrens Care - 38,508 - 38,508

Secure Services 4,473 270,320 - 270,320

Education-Early Years 176,806 778,587 - 778,587

Education-Free School Meals Support - 5,925 - 5,925

Education-SCP - LEP 1,599 2,984,716 - 2,984,716

Education-School Devolved Capital 270,728 4,383,245 1,378,000 5,761,245

Education-School Related 3,116,993 23,978,504 6,834,014 30,812,518

 3,736,087 35,369,794 8,212,014 43,581,808

Recommendations

35. Members of Overview and Scrutiny committee are requested to note the detail within 
the report.

Contact:       Andrew Baldwin – Finance Manager                 Tel:  03000 263 490

Page 140



13

Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance

Financial implications are detailed throughout the report which provides an analysis of the 
revenue and capital projected outturn position. 

Staffing

There are no implications associated with this report. Any over or under spending against the 
employee budgets are disclosed within the report.

Risk

The management of risk is intrinsic to good budgetary control. This report forms an important 
part of the governance arrangements within CYPS. Through routine / regular monitoring of 
budgets and continual re-forecasting to year end the service grouping can ensure that it 
manages its finances within the cash envelope allocated to it.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Accommodation
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Crime and Disorder
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Human Rights
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Consultation
There are no implications associated with this report.  

Procurement
There are no implications associated with this report.

Disability Issues
There are no implications associated with this report.

Legal Implications
There are no implications associated with this report.

Page 141



14
Page 142



Children & Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26 September 2018

Response to Consultations

Report of Lorraine O’Donnell, Director of Transformation and 
Partnerships

Purpose of Report

1 To provide members of the Children and Young People’s Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee with a copy of the committee’s response to three 
consultations that have recently closed on:
a) Children and Young People’s Mental Health Local Transformation Plan at 

appendix 2;
b) Draft Children and Young People’s Strategy at appendix 3; and 
c) Supporting Children to achieve and maintain a healthy weight at appendix 

4.

 Background

2 Over the summer there has been three consultations taking place that fall 
within the remit of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

3 Members of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
received electronically information relating to a consultation on Supporting 
Children to Achieve and Maintain a Healthy Weight.  Members provided 
comments on the consultation that were formulated to form a committee 
response.

4 At its special meeting on 10 September, members of the Children and Young 
People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee received a report on the Draft 
Children and Young People’s Strategy and were asked for their comments.   
Members received a presentation on the Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health Local Transformation Plan, which also asked for their comments as 
part of the consultation.  Members comments on the respective items were 
formulated to provide a formal committee response.

5 All of the above named consultations closed prior to this meeting of the 
committee and due to timescales the formal responses to the respective 
consultations were signed off by the Chair and Vice Chair of Children and 
Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 14



6 The committee’s formal response to these consultations can be found at 
appendix two, three and four for members’ information.

Recommendations

7 Members of Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
are requested to note the copy of the responses sent to the respective 
services as a formal response to their consultations on:

 Children and Young People’s Mental Health and Transformation Plan; 
 Draft Children and Young People’s Strategy
 Supporting Children to Achieve and Maintain a Healthy Weight 

Contact: Tom Gorman,   Tel: 03000 268 027

Author:    Ann Whitton,   Tel: 03000 268 143

Page 144



Appendix 1: Implications

Finance – N/A

Staffing – N/A

 

Risk – N/A

Equality and Diversity – N/A

Accommodation – N/A

Crime and Disorder – N/A

Human Rights – N/A

Consultation – N/A

Procurement – N/A

Disability Discrimination Act – N/A

Legal Implications – N/A 

Page 145



Appendix 2

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consultation Response to Children and Young People’s Mental Health Local 
Transformation Plan 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYPOSC) 
welcome the opportunity to provide comment on the consultation and recognises the 
rigorous consultation procedure that has been undertaken.

Members of the Children and Young People’s and Members from Adults Wellbeing 
and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees received a presentation from 
colleagues in Public Health and Education together with partners from Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services, Investing in Children and Roller Coaster 
parent/carer support.  

In relation to referrals to Harbour, members enquired if the six-week duration of the 
course was long enough for some children and young people and suggested that 
self-referral should be included.

Members highlighted concerns in relation to the travelling distance to Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) in-patient services as travelling costs 
could impact significantly on some families on low incomes and those who rely on 
public transport.

In relation to perinatal care, members were concerned if there was enough capacity 
in regarding peer support groups.

Members were supportive of the work of Roller Coaster and the help they provided 
to parents in County Durham who were struggling following mental health diagnosis 
of their children.

Members were pleased to note the new posts of Children’s Psychological Wellbeing 
Practitioners developed in CAMHS and that the posts were open to those who held 
relevant degree level qualifications and what the role would encompass. 

Concerns were raised in relation to children who are subject to joint acrimonious 
parental custody and the affect this would have on the child’s mental health and 
support available to the child.  In addition, if the support was delivered in partnership 
with parents.

In relation to early identification of mental health issues in children and young people 
members asked how good the authority’s performance was and if meeting targets 
became the priority rather than the action.

Page 146



Overall Members were supportive of the information they received and the work that 
had been done in relation to the Local Transformation Plan.

Page 147



Appendix 3

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Consultation Response to Children and Young People’s Strategy 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYPOSC) 
welcome the opportunity to provide comment on the consultation and recognises the 
rigorous consultation procedure in place.

Members of the committee were pleased to note that following the draft strategy 
proposal coming to committee in July their comments had been used to strengthen 
objectives and there were mechanisms in place to provide a check.

Comments were given that highlighted the readability of the strategy and that 
diagrams, and the use of colours had further enhanced the ease to understand the 
subject matter.

In relation to monitoring and review members enquired if Liquid Logic would be the 
vehicle used to do this.

Members were pleased to note the inclusion of Speech and language under Aim 
two, objective one and noted that work had been done in libraries but asked how 
communities where there was no library would access the service.

Comments highlighted gaps in the strategy in relation to the voluntary and 
community sector (VCS) and suggested that a separate VCS strategy be 
considered, it was also suggested that AAPs could provide information as they 
engage regularly with VCS.

Members noted that partnership working had been undertaken to develop the 
strategy and were pleased to note the involvement of children, young people and 
their families; particularly in relation to Special Education Needs and Disabilities and 
suggested that other strands of the aims should explicitly mention how children, 
young people and their families were involved in the development of services and 
initiatives.

Members noted the Council’s drive for economic regeneration and suggested that 
young people should have greater input into economic and planning policies and 
actions.

Members highlighted concerns over the financial pressures in bidding for funding 
from a national programme and sought clarification regarding the risks.

Page 148



Appendix 4

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Supporting Children to maintain and achieve a Healthy Weight Consultation 

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (CYPOSC) have 
monitored actions to support children to achieve and maintain a healthy weight over 
many years and continue to do so and welcome the opportunity to be part of the 
consultation process.  

The consolation information and link was send to members of CYPOSC who were 
asked to respond to the consolation and to return their comments to the Scrutiny 
Officer who would collate the comments to formulate a committee response.

The committee provides a response below based on comments received from 
members of the committee.

Obviously, families and friends have the biggest direct impact on a child’s ability to 
achieve and maintain a healthy weight therefore the focus has to be to work with 
families not to rely on processed foods, not to use foods as a treat for children and to 
eat as a family.  However many families rely of processed microwave meals  this 
may be because of their busy lives or because they do not know how to cook a meal 
from scratch so maybe there is a wider issue about educating parents how to cook 
using fresh ingredients and how to keep their family healthy.  There are other factors 
that impact on achieving a healthy weight such as time and money.  Many families 
work long hours and do not have the time to prepare healthy meals or the funds to 
purchase fresh foods.  There is a strong relationship between obesity and 
deprivation with levels of child obesity much higher in areas of deprivation that more 
affluent areas.

Outside of parental control is advertising and marketing of high calorie, high fats, 
sugar and salt foods and sugary drinks and complicated food labelling and this is 
something the government could address to help families.

The polices of the local authority can impact on child obesity. Planning policies in 
relation to takeaways close to schools, play areas and open spaces and cycle routes 
will all impact on supporting children to achieve and maintain a healthy weight.

The importance of physical activity cannot be overlooked and need not be organised 
events but could be an opportunity for families to spend more time together and 
enjoy activities as a family such as walking; playing outdoor games and young 
children may just want to run around.  CYPOSC in their monitoring of Obesity 
learned of Beat the Streets incentive that was used in some areas and of the positive 
impact this incentive had on children and young people.

Page 149



In relation to the National Child Measurement Programme, support should be given 
to families in pregnancy and regularly from birth in relation to healthy diet and 
physical activity as a preventative measure by reiterating the message of the 
importance of a child’s healthy weight and how this can be achieved.  Preventative 
work would reduce the number of children found to have excess weight following 
their first NCMP measurement taken at 4/5year of age.  An interim measurement at 
7/8 years would allow for targeted interventions to be put in place and start to take 
effect before the next measurement at age 10/11 years took place. Children’s weight 
should be monitored as they approach adolescence too as this can be a time when 
weight can affect their mental health as much as their physical health due to body 
image and bullying.

Support given in relation to children being identified as overweight and obese should 
involve several families working together to support each other for the benefit of the 
children.  Support should be made available in a community setting rather than using 
schools or GP surgeries where the children may feel stigmatised.

The CYPOSC has an item on Childhood obesity programmed to come to its meeting 
on 11 January 2019 and it is hoped the results of the consultation can be shared with 
members at that meeting.

Page 150



Children & Young People’s 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

26 September 2018

Summary of Minutes from Children 
and Families Partnership           

19 June 2018

1 Children and Young People’s Strategy

It is proposed that a new Children and Young People’s Strategy (CYPS) be 
developed for County Durham. 

Rationale for the CYPS includes: 
 There have been significant changes in context for children’s delivery 

nationally and in Durham, including Health and Social Care integration, the 
Children and Social work Act 2017, OFSTED inspection of social care, 
Inspection of partner services for SEND and a new Public Health structure

 The current CYPFP is due for renewal in April 2019.

The proposed vision statement for the new CYPS is:
“County Durham will be a great place for children and young people to grow up in 

and for 
Durham to be a place where all children are healthy, happy and achieving their 

potential”.

It is proposed that the new CYPS will have the following four key aims, with 
subsequent objectives:

1. All children and young people have a safe childhood
2. Children and young people enjoy the best start in life, good health and 

emotional 
wellbeing

3. Young people can access good quality education, training and local 
employment

4. Achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people with 
special educational needs and disabilities

To ensure delivery on the new CYPS, it is proposed that the aims will be 
underpinned by the following principles:

 Participation of children, young people and families in service development 
and design

 ‘Think Family’ approach with a focus on vulnerability
 Good transitions into adulthood 

Page 151

Agenda Item 15

http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/Pages/CT-Home.aspx


 Tackling the effects of inequality
 Regular performance review, challenge and learning, including learning 

from serious case reviews and serious incidents
 Support for young people with SEND

A number of consultation events are planned over the coming weeks.

2 Stronger Families

The County Durham Stronger Families Programme will run until May 2020, with a 
target to ‘turn around’ 4360 families.

To future proof the Stronger Families work, a ‘think family’ approach is being 
mainstreamed into all areas of our work, which should enable us to continue to 
turn around families, when funding ceases.

At March 2018, the Stronger Families Programme had exceeded its planned target 
of 3,367, with 5,641 families attached to the programme.

The most prevalent reason why families are not ‘turned around’ continues to be 
failing to achieve an outcome in the worklessness and financial exclusion theme.  
Work is continuing to address this through the VCS Alliance programme and the 
Child Poverty Working Group.  

Actions to date include the development and delivery of ‘Smarter Budgeting’ training 
and ‘Routes out of Poverty’ workshops for frontline staff to increase their knowledge 
and uptake of help available to families facing financial exclusion including debt 
management, promotion of credit unions and Welfare Assistance. 

The Stronger Families programme continues to drive the service transformation 
required to ensure children and families with a range of complex needs receive 
coordinated, effective, whole family support to enable families to achieve significant 
and sustained change – and County Durham is currently ranked 37th nationally out 
of 141 Local authorities . 

3 Co-commissioned model of health provision in County Durham 
Youth Offending Service

The County Durham Youth Offending Service (CD YOS) recognises the particular 
health needs of young people who offend, and has a clear commitment to improve 
their health and wellbeing outcomes.  

In 2016, the CD YOS commissioned a Health Needs Assessment (HNA) of young 
people who offend, with findings and recommendations from the HNA being 
agreed by the CD YOS Management Board in February 2017.  This included the 
identification of a particular skill mix within the CD YOS heath provision, outlined 
below, to meet the complex needs of young people involved with the service, 
which allows a much improved, targeted service for these young people:

 Speech and Language Therapist
 Specialist Children’s Public Health Nurse

Page 152



 Drug and Alcohol Staff
 Emotional Wellbeing Support Workers
 Liaison and Diversion Link Workers
 Consultant Psychologist
 Assistant Psychologist

The CD YOS co-commissioned model has been put forward for the Health 
Services Journal Award.

4 Student Voice Survey

The Student Voice Survey was first undertaken in 2015 with secondary schools 
only.  In 2017 the survey included both secondary and primary schools.  The 
findings of the two Student Voice Surveys have been shared with the Children and 
Families Partnership.

Work is taking place to develop the Student Voice surveys for 2019 for both 
primary and secondary schools, and to ascertain interest in the number of schools 
across the County who wish to participate.  Consideration is being given as to how 
Special schools can be involved in the surveys.

Strategic actions that the findings have prompted include:
 Substantial work being undertaken by the Education Department in 

partnership with head teachers in schools where progress has been below 
expectations.  This was in response to the feedback in the 2017 survey 
indicating an apparent decline in the confidence that young people of 
secondary school age in particular felt about their own progress.  The 
2019 survey will assess changes in student perceptions linked to the 
different approaches to teaching and learning that have taken place in 
response.  

 A matter of significant concern from the 2017 Survey was the apparent 
high prevalence of bullying in our primary and secondary schools.  In 
response all Education Development Partners, who support school 
leadership in over 95% of Durham’s schools and academies, have 
included reference to the Survey findings, particularly the section covering 
perceptions of bullying, in their termly spring visit.  In the case of schools 
receiving only one visit per year due to being judged to be ‘outstanding’ by 
Ofsted, this reference will form part of the conversation with school 
leaders.  School leaders are well-sighted on the findings of the Survey, 
and have in the most part been challenged to consider actions related to 
bullying.

 More detailed analysis was initiated by the Education Department on the 
back of findings relating to the use of technology by primary age pupils as 
the figures seemed high. The analysis revealed that in comparison to 
nationally available data, the reported findings in Durham were in fact 
lower than average.  For the 2019 survey, wherever possible wider 
benchmark data will be sought against all responses, so that thresholds 
are understood in advance of the returns being submitted.

Page 153



 The Education department is working with Public Health to develop a 
quality health framework for school, which will build upon action points 
raised from the 2017 Survey relating to healthy lifestyles providing 
practical guidance to schools about changes to practice and awareness 
raising with parents and children. This will build on the successful 
approaches adopted to reducing the cost of the school day, which was 
part of the Council’s response to the poverty agenda.

The Children and Families Partnership will continue to be sighted on the 
development of the surveys, and will receive feedback from the survey results.

5 Smoking at time of delivery (SATOD)

Smoking at time of delivery is of particular concern in County Durham, and ranges 
from 13.7% of mothers SATOD in North Durham Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) Area to 21% of mothers SATOD in Durham, Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG area.  

This makes DDES CCG’s SATOD rates the second highest CCG in the North 
East, and sixth highest CCG in England.

The Children and Families Partnership received a presentation on SATOD from 
the Public Health Intelligence Specialist, outlining the particular risks to babies 
associated with SATOD, the notable difference between CCG areas, and the links 
between SATOD and deprivation.

The presentation alluded to the evidence based BabyClear Initiative 
commissioned by Fresh, to reduce maternal smoking.  A range of work is also 
taking place within County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
(CDDFT) maternity services to tackle SATOD.  Feedback to CDDFT from those 
who are SATOD have indicated that hard hitting messages to encourage more 
quitters are effective.

6 Decades Project

Young people and workers from Investing in Children attended the Children and 
Families Partnership meeting to showcase the Decades Project.  The young people 
talked about the range of work and research they have been involved in about 
women’s heritage in the North East through the decades, and asked ‘What is being 
done to maximise young women’s aspirations in County Durham?’

Members of the Children and Families Partnership shared their stories and 
experiences, and those of the young people they work with.

It was agreed to link the young people from Investing in Children Decades Project 
with an Aspirations event planned for later in the year.  Research has been carried 
out by the Institute of Local Governance of Durham University and findings will be 
presented at the event. 

If you require further details on any of the information contained in the 
Summary Minutes, please email cfp@durham.gov.uk or call 03000 268 371

Page 154

http://www.freshne.com/what-we-do/our-work/helping-smokers-to-quit/smoking-and-pregnancy
mailto:cfp@durham.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 2 July 2018 and the Special Meeting on 24 July 2018
	Minutes , 24/07/2018 Children and Young People's Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	7 Participation in Learning
	8 Local Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report - Report of the Independent Chair of County Durham Local Safeguarding Board
	Durham-LSCB-Annual-Report-2017-18-Final
	LSCB-Annual-Report-for-Young-People-2018-Final

	9 Corporate Parenting Annual Report - Report of the Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
	Annual Report CPP

	10 Performance Management Q1 2018/2019 - Report of Corporate Management Team
	11 Budget Revenue and Capital Outturn 2017/2018 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	12 Budget Revenue and Capital Forecast Q1 2018/2019 - Report of Corporate Director of Resources
	14 Committee's Response to Consultations - Report of the Director of Transformation and Partnerships
	15 Children and Families Partnership Minutes

